
KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, May 22, 2025 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

 AGENDA 

Link to join Webinar 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86081189885 

Webinar ID: 860 8118 9885 

1. Call to Order:  3:00

2. Roll Call and Members Excused

3. Approval of the Agenda

4. Approval of Minutes:   BRA Minutes of April 24, 2025

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each)

6. Consent Agenda

a. From General Fund:

i. $2,550.00 - Varnum Invoice 1374594 (Pavilion Investors, LLC BFP)

ii. $153.50 – Staff Reimbursement for MEDA Emerging Leaders Training 5/8/25

iii. $97.20 – Staff Reimbursement for EGLE Stakeholders Workshop 4/16/25

b. Project Business:

i. Developer Reimbursements for 2024 Tax Increment Revenue

1. $4,246.08 – 9008 Portage Road 4th TIF Payment (Local)

2. $6,891.21 – 232 LLC 6th TIF Payment (Local)

3. $23,466.28 – 383 S. Pitcher Street 7th ($8,940.90 State &
$14,525.38 Local)

4. $11,906.53 – KALSEE Credit Union 2nd TIF Payment (Local)

ii. Transfers into LBRF

1. $7,426.54 – KALSEE 2024 State TIR

iii. Return of Tax Increment Revenue to Taxing Jurisdictions

1. $3,362.05 – KALSEE 2024 State TIR ($2,516.03 school operating
& $846.02 State Education Tax)

c. From EPA Grant Fund:

i. $793.26 – Fishbeck Invoice 451035 (WO#18 J. Smith Ent.)

d. From LBRF Fund:

i. $4,633.16 – Fishbeck Invoice 451050 (W.O. 2025-3 RSFW)

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar

a. Action: Flowers Automotive Recycling

Item 3

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86081189885


i. Part I & Part II Applications

ii. Fishbeck Work Order 2025-4 Flowers Automotive

b. Discussion: Fishbeck

i. General Environmental Memo & Billing Summary

ii. EPA Grant Memo & Billing Summary

iii. $2,477.50 – Fishbeck Invoice 451038 (W.O. 2025-2 KVHH; $391.50 from
Site Study & $2,086 from LBRF)

c. Action: Developer Invoice Packets for Eligible Expenses in Brownfield Plans

1. IPUSA Invoice Packet #2 total $2,008,423.90

d. Action: KCBRA Fund 242 & 243 Fiscal Year 2026 Budget Proposal

i. KCBRA Application Fee Amount (Finance Deadline 7/7/25)

8. Financial Reports

a. Discussion: KCBRA General Fund 243

b. Discussion: KCBRA Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Report

9. Staff Report/Updates
a. BRA Staff attended MEDA 2025 Emerging Leaders Spring Training 5/8/25
b. 2025 National Brownfield Conference in Chicago, IL August 4th-8th
c. Lana Escamilla appointed to KCBRA/EDC Board on 5/20/25
d. KCBRA Website Updates and New Project Profiles Added

10. Other

11. Board Member Comments

12. Adjournment

Next Regular Meeting: Thursday, June 26, 2025, at 3:00 p.m. 

MEETING HELD ON THE FOURTH THURSDAY OF THE MONTH 

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 
teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for 

electronic meeting notice and instructions 

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 



KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

MEETING DATE: Thursday, April 24, 2025 
 PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A 
TIME:  3:00 pm  

 DRAFT - MINUTES 

Present: Christopher Carew, Chad Goodwill, Kenneth Peregon, Jared Lutz, Jodi Milks, and 
Andrew Wenzel 

Members Excused: Kyle Gulau and Commissioner Monteze Morales 

Vacancies:  none  

Kalamazoo Township:  Craig Sherwood, Township Trustee 

Oshtemo Township: none 

Staff: Macy Rose Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator and Rachael Grover, 
Planning Director 

Consultant:  Therese Searles, Fishbeck 

Recording Secretary: Macy Rose Walters 

County Commissioners:  none 

Community: 0 

1. Call to Order: Chair Peregon called the meeting to order at 3:06 p.m.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused: Kyle Gulau and Monteze Morales were excused. Six
voting members of eight board of directors were present, there is one vacancy.

3. Approval of the Agenda:

Chair Peregon requested Item 7biii and Item 7c be added to the agenda with Item 7c to be
discussed immediately following Item 7a.

Director Wenzel moved to approve Item 3 as amended, and Director Milks 
seconded. A Roll Call Vote was taken, the motion carried with five (5) Yes and zero 
(0) No, and zero (0) Abstentions.  

4. Approval of Minutes:   BRA Minutes of March 27, 2025

Director Lutz moved to approve Item 4, the Minutes of March 27, 2025, as presented,
Director Milks seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each) none

6. Consent Agenda

a. From General Fund:

i. $24,897.52 - FY25Q1 Reimbursement to Planning Department

Item 4



ii. $2,212,50 - Varnum Invoice 1370670 (Pavilion Investors, LLC BFP)

iii. $80.00 – Bluetree Web Design Invoice 2503261339 (KCBRA Web Updates)

b. Project Business:

i. Developer Invoice Packets for Eligible Expenses in Brownfield Plans

1. Kalamazoo Hotel Group, LLC (Delta Marriott BFP) Total Eligible
Expenses $247,376.00

ii. Vicksburg Mill Paper City

1. Authorization to Submit FY25Q2 Loan Report to EGLE (State FY)

2. $204.34 – BRA Admin Expenses invoice for EGLE Loan FY25Q2
(State FY)

Director Carew moved to approve Item 6 as presented, Director Milks seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried. 

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar

a. Action: Bogan Developments “the B on Burdick” Part I & Part II Project Applications

Discussion ensued about the project scope and plans for a future City of Kalamazoo
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority brownfield plan on the property. The applicant
requests reimbursement for assessment activities, in the form of a loan at 1.5%, for
up to $66,600.00, and the KCBRA to be reimbursed first ahead of the Developer
within the brownfield plan.

Director Carew moved to approve item 7a, with the understanding that a Loan 
Repayment Agreement would be executed with full details of the loan structure 
to be negotiated within the agreement, and for the application fee to be waived. 
Director Goodwill seconded. A Roll Call Vote was taken. Four (4) Yes and zero 
(0) No, with Director Lutz Abstaining from discussion and voting.  

b. Discussion: Fishbeck

i. General Environmental Memo & Billing Summary

ii. EPA Grant Memo & Billing Summary

iii. Fishbeck W.O. 2025-3 Amendment No. 1 (Rooney’s Soul Food Wagon)

Discussion ensued over updates from the Developer on the rezoning and the Phase 
I findings. Due to the Phase I findings, it was recommended to move forward with the 
Phase II for ground penetrating radar to show whether historic underground storage 
tanks are still located on the property. 

Director Milks moved to approve Item 7biii as presented, Director Wenzel 
seconded. None opposed, motion carried. 



c. Action: West Main 1, LLC Part I and Part II Project Applications

Discussion ensued regarding the timeline of the project and the unknowns of
Oshtemo Township’s final brownfield plan policy implementation. This is a housing
TIF Plan with for-sale condo unites, multi-family rental units, and retail space, with a
proposed 20-year affordability period.

Director Goodwill moved to approve Item 7c as presented, contingent upon the 
receipt of the application fee, Director Milks seconded. A Roll Call Vote was 
taken, the motion carried with five (5) Yes, zero (0) No, and one (1) abstention, 
with Director Lutz abstaining from discussion and voting.  

8. Financial Reports

a. Discussion: KCBRA General Fund 243

b. Discussion: KCBRA Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Report

i. Approval of Meeting Notes for February 13, 2025, KCBRA Board Retreat

 Director Lutz moved to approve Item 8bi as presented, Director Milks 
seconded. None opposed, motion carried.  

1. Emerging Developer & Predevelopment Fund

9. Staff Report/Updates
a. BRA Staff working with Kalamazoo County Admin & Housing on Housing TIF Policy

b. Pavilion Investors, LLC Brownfield Plan Resolution was adopted by Kalamazoo
County Board of Commissioners at the April 1st, 2025, Regular Meeting

c. KCBRA/EDC Board Vacancy Interview with County Board Appointments Committee
(BAC) meeting canceled due to lack of quorum from 4/10/25 (New date TBD)

d. BRA Staff Assisting in Review of Oshtemo Township Brownfield TIF Policy Draft

10. Other

11. Board Member Comments

12. Adjournment Director Wenzel moved to adjourn at 4:57 p.m. Director Carew seconded,
none opposed, motion carried.

Next meeting: Thursday, May, 22 2025, at 3:00 p.m. 

NOTE: KCBRA MEETINGS ARE HELD ON THE FOURTH THURSDAY OF THE MONTH. 

Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via teleconference.  
Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for electronic meeting 

notice and instructions 

http://www.kalcountybrownfield.com/


BOARD MEMBERS: 
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM 

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling: 

Macy Rose Walters 
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007      TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305 



Item 6 a i



Item 6 a ii





�������� �	
������� ��������	 ������ ��������������� ! "�#$��%&'%�(��)����*+�&'%�,��&'&'%��� ! "�#$��%&'%(��)������-.'��$/���0 12!3!! 12!3!!� *45,6,7( 12!3!!*7(#*�,78 1!3!!*9:;;:-<�=�97->(:-< 1!3!!�?�@A BCDEDD"F�F ! "���;��$�'�G�H��)&�����) 12!3!!�?�@A���I�JK�LMNMODOL BDEDD

P���&+��QR�2S"F�F ! "5&���,.�������������



Y![!a!½hh /h¦b¢¸ Dh±9wba9b¢ 
CƛƴŀƴŎŜ 5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘ 

9ƳǇƭƻȅŜŜ bŀƳŜ ±ŜƴŘƻǊ І 5ŀǘŜ {ǳōƳƛǘǘŜŘ 

{ǘǊŜŜǘ !ŘŘǊŜǎǎ 5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘ 

/ƛǘȅΣ {ǘŀǘŜΣ ½ƛǇ /ƻŘŜ tŜǊƛƻŘ /ƻǾŜǊŜŘ CǊƻƳΥ tŜǊƛƻŘ /ƻǾŜǊŜŘ ¢ƻΥ 

Date Description 
(Include point to point traveled and purpose of trip) 

Mileage 
Travel Training 

I hereby certify that all items of expense included in this 
statement were incurred in the discharge of authorized 
official business; that the amounts are correct; that proper 
documentation has been submitted; and that they represent 
proper charges against the County.  

Total Mileage:
Travel Account #: 
Training Account #: 

Total Due:

Employee Signature Date

Department Authorized Approver Signature Date

¢ǊŀǾŜƭ 9ȄǇŜƴǎŜ CƻǊƳ ς нлнр aƛƭŜŀƎŜ hƴƭȅ

Macy Rose Walters 42832 5/22/25

201 W Kalamazoo Ave

Kalamazoo, MI 49007 May 8, 2025 May 8, 2025

5/8/2025 MEDA Emerging Leaders Training at the Michigan Municipal League Offices in Lansing 105.0

105.0 0.0
$ 73.50

$ 0.00
$ 73.50

24370300-86001

2000 BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTH



Item 6 a iii



Y![!a!½hh /h¦b¢¸ Dh±9wba9b¢ 
CƛƴŀƴŎŜ 5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘ 

9ƳǇƭƻȅŜŜ bŀƳŜ ±ŜƴŘƻǊ І 5ŀǘŜ {ǳōƳƛǘǘŜŘ 

{ǘǊŜŜǘ !ŘŘǊŜǎǎ 5ŜǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘ 

/ƛǘȅΣ {ǘŀǘŜΣ ½ƛǇ /ƻŘŜ tŜǊƛƻŘ /ƻǾŜǊŜŘ CǊƻƳΥ tŜǊƛƻŘ /ƻǾŜǊŜŘ ¢ƻΥ 

Date Description 
(Include point to point traveled and purpose of trip) 

Mileage 
Travel Training 

I hereby certify that all items of expense included in this 
statement were incurred in the discharge of authorized 
official business; that the amounts are correct; that proper 
documentation has been submitted; and that they represent 
proper charges against the County.  

Total Mileage:
Travel Account #: 
Training Account #: 

Total Due:

Employee Signature Date

Department Authorized Approver Signature Date

¢ǊŀǾŜƭ 9ȄǇŜƴǎŜ CƻǊƳ ς нлнр aƛƭŜŀƎŜ hƴƭȅ

Macy Rose Walters 42832 5/22/25

201 W Kalamazoo Ave

Kalamazoo, MI 49007 April 16, 2025 April 16, 2025

4/16/2025 EGLE Brownfields Stakeholder Workshop at Lansing Community College West Campus 96.0

96.0 0.0
$ 67.20

$ 0.00
$ 67.20

24370300-86001

2000 BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTH



Y/.w! {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ Estimate Invoiced

   Phase I 2,300.00$                6,209.06$                ‐$ 6,209.06$           
   Phase II ‐$   330.44$ ‐$ 330.44$              
   BEA/Due Care Plan 2,700.00$                351.25$ ‐$ 351.25$              
   Brownfield Plan 2,500.00$                1,428.75$            1,428.75$           
   Act 381 Work Plan 2,500.00$                1,497.13$            1,497.13$           
Act 381 Work Plan ‐ 12/10/14 210.00$               210.00$              

263.75$               263.75$              
Documentation of Due Care 12/17/15 45.13$ 3,139.87$            3,185.00$           

Administrative ‐$
   2013 BRA Operating Expenses ‐$ 3,132.12$            3,132.12$           
2014 BRA Operating Expenses 162.61$               162.61$              
2015 BRA Admin. Expenses 141.85$               141.85$              
2016 BRA Admin. Expenses 87.06$                 87.06$                
2017 BRA Admin Expenses 5/24/2018 97.77$                 97.77$                
2018 BRA Admin Expenses 3/28/2019 122.70$               122.70$              
2019 BRA Admin. Expenses 2/27/2020 77.34$                 77.34$                
2020 BRA Admin. Expenses 2/26/2021 68.22$                 68.22$                
2021 BRA Admin. Expenses 12/31/2021 127.77$                 127.77$                
2022 BRA Admin. Expenses 12/31/2022 167.87$                 167.87$                
2023 BRA Admin Expenses 12/31/2023 252.79$                 252.79$                
2024 BRA Admin Expenses 12/31/2024 393.91$                 393.91$                

Subtotal KCBRA 9,816.63$                    6,935.88$               11,371.51$         18,307.39$        

tŀȅƳŜƴǘǎ Approved Distributed
    KCBRA Sept 2014 617.89$ 601.54$               1,219.43$           
KCBRA 12/31/2015 81.67$                 81.67$                
KCBRA 12/31/2015 505.09$ 597.94$               1,103.03$           
KCBRA 12/15/2016 501.52$ 67.54$                 569.06$              
KCBRA 12/15/2016 612.15$               612.15$              
KCBRA 12/22/2017 570.58$ 760.54$               1,331.12$           
KCBRA  2018 601.00$ 846.00$               1,447.00$           
KCBRA 2019 860.24$ 1,231.65$            2,091.89$           
KCBRA  2020 1,269.73$                2,488.29$            3,758.02$           
KCBRA   4/28/22 2,009.83$                       3,269.62$            5,279.45$           
KCBRA 3/23/2023 167.87$               167.87$              
KCBRA 3/28/2024 252.79$               252.79$              
KCBRA 12/31/24 393.91$               393.91$              

Subtotal KCBRA 6,935.88$                 11,371.51$           18,307.39$          

Remaining Balances after Payments
Subtotal KCBRA ‐Ϸ   ‐Ϸ   ‐Ϸ  
State Brownfield Fund

State of Michigan Payment (2015 SET) 10/23/2016 72.00$   72.00$                 

State of Michigan Payment (2016 SET) 10/3/2017 71.50$   71.50$                 

State of Michigan Payment (2017 SET) 12/3/2018 умΦллϷ   умΦлл$                  
State of Michigan Payment (2018 SET 3 mils) утΦллϷ   утΦлл$                  
State of Michigan Payment  (2019 SET 3 mils) мнрΦлл$                     мнрΦлл$                
State of Michigan Payment (2020 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2021 нссΦлл$                     нссΦлл$                
State of Michigan Payment (2021 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2022 отфΦлл$                     отфΦлл$                
State of Michigan Payment (2022 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2023 офнΦлл$                     офнΦлл$                
State of Michigan Payment (2023 SET 3 mils) 12/31/2024 435.00$                    пмоΦлл$                
State of Michigan Payment (2024 SET 3 mils) pending 435.00$                    порΦлл$                

Total 2,343.50$                 2,321.50$            

Developer  Estimated Invoiced {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ
Eligible Developer Expense

BEA activities 5000 2,800.00$                37,450.00$          40,250.00$         
Due Care Activities 15000 ‐$ ‐$ ‐$
Non Environmental Activities 20000 ‐$ ‐$ ‐$
Act 381 Work Plan 2500 ‐$ ‐$ ‐$

‐$ ‐$ ‐$
Total ‐$ ‐$

Subtotal Developer 2,800.00$               37,450.00$         40,250.00$        

Non‐Interest Payments Approved Distributed State Local Total
1st TIF reimbursement  4/28/22 579.61$   918.19$                 1,497.80$             
2nd TIF reimbursement 8/24/23 2,220.39$                4,006.75$            6,227.14$           
3rd TIF reimbursement 8/22/24 ‐$ 4,246.08$            4,246.08$           
4th TIF reimbursement pending 5/22/25 ‐$ 4,246.08$           4,246.08$          

Subtotal Developer 2,800.00$               9,171.02$           16,217.10$        

*Amount eligible by BF plan $40,250.00
Developer Remaining Balances after Payments
Subtotal Developer ‐$   28,278.98$            28,278.98$           
Total Remaining Balances of all Entities ‐$   28,278.98$        28,278.98$      

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Reimbursement Analysis Revieǿ
Disaster Restoration Inc ‐ 9008 Portage Rd, Portage, MI 49002

May 22, 2025

 Invoiced together ‐ 
$9816.63 

Invoiced together
 = 41,939.12

Item 6 b i 1



Y/.w! [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ Estimate Invoiced

Administrative ‐$  
2015 BRA Admin. Expenses 39.58$ 39.58$  
2016 BRA Admin. Expenses 292.96$ 292.96$  
2017 BRA Admin. Expenses 290.22$ 290.22$  
2018 BRA Admin. Expenses 353.08$ 353.08$  
2019 BRA Admin. Expenses  approved 2/28/2020 156.52$ 156.52$  
2020 BRA Admin. Expenses approved 2/25/2021 138.47$ 138.47$  
2021 BRA Admin. Expenses approved 2/24/2022 82.67$ 82.67$  
2022 BRA Admin. Expenses approved 3/23/2023 122.34$ 122.34$  
2023 BRA Admin. Expenses approved 3/28/2024 190.96$ 190.96$  
2024 BRA Admin. Expenses approved 3/27/2025 360.33$ 360.33$  

Subtotal KCBRA ‐$   ‐$ 2,027.13$               2,027.13$  

tŀȅƳŜƴǘǎ Distributed
From 2017 TIF 2018 ‐$ 622.76$  
From 2018 TIF 12/31/2018 353.08$  
From 2019  2/28/2019 156.52$  
From 2020  12/31/2020 138.47$  
From 2021 12/31/2021 82.67$  
From 2022 12/31/2022 122.34$  
From 2023 12/31/2023 190.96$  
From 2024 12/31/2024 360.33$  

Subtotal KCBRA ‐$ 2,027.13$  

Remaining Balances after Payments
Subtotal KCBRA ‐Ϸ  
5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ Approved
Interest Eligible Developer Expense

Phase I ESA ‐$  
Demolition Permits ‐$  
Asbestos Survey тκнрκнлмф 120.00$                   120.00$  
Asbestos Abatement тκнрκнлмф 1,000.00$               1,000.00$  
Demolition  тκнрκнлмф 76,312.50$             76,312.50$  
Disposal тκнрκнлмф 1,713.76$               1,713.76$  
Brownfield Plan тκнрκнлмф 5,000.00$               5,000.00$  
BRA Application тκнрκнлмф 2,500.00$               2,500.00$  

Total 86,646.26$             86,646.26$                  

‐$  

Subtotal Developer 86,646.26$                  

Payments to Developer) Disbursed
Approved 8/22/2019 9/12/2019 7,819.97$             7,819.97$                 
Approved 5/28/2020 6/4/2020 4,330.26$             4,330.26$                 
Approved 4/22/2021 5/26/2021 4,590.00$             4,590.00$                 
Approved 4/28/2022 5/9/2022 4,758.43$             4,758.43$                 
Approved 6/22/2023 7/11/2023 5,137.46$             5,137.46$                 
Approved 6/27/2024 7/17/2024 5,595.01$             5,595.01$                 
pending 5/22/25 pending 6,891.21$            6,891.21$                

Subtotal Payments to Developer 39,122.34$  
47,523.92$                  

Subtotal Remaining to Developer 47,523.92$  
Total Remaining Balances of all Entities 47,523.92$              

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Reimbursement Analysis Revieǿ
232 LLC ‐ 232 W. Michigan Ave., Kalamazoo

May 22, 2025

Item 6 b i 2



Y/.w! {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ Estimate Invoiced/Approved

Administrative

2018 Administrative ‐$   ‐$  
2019 Administrative 2/28/2020 approved 698.74$                   698.74$  
2020 Administrative 2/25/2021 approved 536.61$                   536.61$  
2021 Administrative 2/7/2022 approved 420.88$                   420.88$  
2022 Administrative 3/23/2023 approved 520.38$                   520.38$  
2023 Administrative 3/28/2024 approved 800.11$                   800.11$  
2024 Administrative 3/27/2025 approved 1,272.38$              1,272.38$                  
Subtotal KCBRA ‐$   ‐$   ‐$                    4,249.10$              4,249.10$                 

tŀȅƳŜƴǘǎ Approved Distributed
KCBRA 2/28/20 2/28/2020 698.74$                   698.74$  
KCBRA 2/22/21 12/31/2020 536.61$                   536.61$  
KCBRA  2/7/22 12/31/2021 420.88$                   420.88$  
KCBRA 3/23/23 12/31/2022 520.38$                   520.38$  
KCBRA 3/28/24 12/31/2023 800.11$                   800.11$  
KCBRA 3/27/25 12/31/24 1,272.38$              1,272.38$                  
Subtotal KCBRA ‐$                    4,249.10$              4,249.10$                 

Remaining Balances after Payments
Subtotal KCBRA ‐$                     ‐Ϸ   ‐Ϸ  

State Brownfield Fund Distributed State local Total

11/17/2020 916.50$             916.50$  
12/31/2021 1,041.00$          1,041.00$                  
12/31/2022 1,058.00$         1,058.00$                 

12/31/2023 1,122.00$         1,122.00$                 

State of Michigan (2023 1/2 SET) 12/31/2024 1,207.00$          1,207.00$                  
State of Michigan (2024 1/2 SET) pending 1,297.00$         1,297.00$                 

Total сΣспмΦрл$                  

5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊ {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ WP Approved BRA 

Eligible Developer Expense Estimate  Approved

Site Assessment and BEA 16,741.00$          16,741.00$   6,927.43$          9,813.57$              16,741.00$                
Combined BF Plan and 381 WP 6,500.00$           6,500.00$   2,689.70$          3,810.30$              6,500.00$                  
Due Care 85,700.00$         27,968.13$   11,573.21$        16,394.92$            27,968.13$                
Demolition 92,300.00$         130,109.64$                    43,922.80$        86,186.84$            130,109.64$             
Asbestos Abatement 10,680.00$         7,187.62$   2,974.24$          4,213.38$              7,187.62$                  

Site Prep 9,500.00$           61,666.61$   4,520.77$          57,145.85$            61,666.61$                
15% contingency 28,752.00$         
Total 250,173.00$       250,173.00$                    72,608.14$       177,564.86$         250,173.00$             
Subtotal Developer 72,608.14$       177,564.86$         250,173.00$            

Non‐Interest Payments Approved Distributed
5/28/2020 5/28/2020 6/22/2020 $9,761.87 $9,761.87
 7/23/2020 7/23/2020 7/31/2020 6,375.40$          $6,375.40
4/22/2021 4/22/2021 5/26/2021 7,171.07$          11,877.31$            $19,048.38
4/28/2022 4/28/2022 5/9/2022 7,296.45$          12,429.24$            $19,725.69
6/22/2023 6/22/2023 7/7/2023 7,732.71$          13,123.61$            $20,856.32
6/27/2024 6/27/2024 7/9/2024 8,317.73$          13,918.09$            $22,235.82
5/22/2025 pending 8,940.90$         14,525.38$           $23,466.28

Subtotal Developer Payments 45,834.26$       $75,635.50 121,469.76$            

Interest (3%)
1st interest from 11/21/2019 on $243,673 allowed principal $2,693.45 $3,815.62 $6,509.07
2nd interest 2020 on $227,535.73 principal remaining $1,906.29 $4,919.78 $6,826.07
3rd interest 2021 on $208,487.35 principal remaining $2,588.16 $3,666.46 $6,254.62

4th interest on 2022 on $188,761.66 principal remaining $3,433.87 $2,423.98 $5,857.85

5th interest on 2023 on $167,905.34 $2,084.38 $2,952.78 $5,037.16

6th interest on 2024 on $144,439.07 $1,793.07 $2,540.10 $4,333.17

Interest Total $14,499.22 $20,318.72 $34,817.94
Developer Remaining Balances after Payments (incl. interest)
Subtotal Remaining to Developer $41,273.11 $122,248.08 $163,521.19
Total Remaining Balances of all Entities 41,273.11$     122,248.08$       $163,521.19

State of Michigan (2022 1/2 SET)
State of Michigan (2021 1/2 SET)

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Reimbursement Analysis Review
383 S. Pitcher Street Redevelopment

May 22, 2025

State of Michigan Payment(2019 1/2 of SET)
State of Michigan (2020 1/2 of SET)

Item 6 b i 3



Y/.w! {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ approved

Plan Related Expenses

Legal Fees 1,147.00$             1,147.00$            
Administrative

2023 BRA Admin Expenses 12/31/2023 902.22$                 902.22
2024 BRA Admin Expenses 12/31/2024 1,245.89$             1,245.89

Subtotal KCBRA ‐$   ‐$   3,295.11$            3,295.11$           

tŀȅƳŜƴǘǎ Approved Distributed
KCBRA '23 Admin and PR Expenses 3/23/24 12/31/23 ‐$   2,049.22$             2,049.22$            
KCBRA '24 Admin 3/27/25 12/31/24 1,245.89$             1,245.89$            
Subtotal KCBRA ‐$   3,295.11$            3,295.11$           

Remaining Balances after Payments
Subtotal KCBRA ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

State Brownfield Fund Payment {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
50% SET 2023 12/31/2024 1,655.00$            1,655.00$            
50% SET 2024 pending 1,553.00$            1,553.00$           

Total 3,208.00$            ‐$   3,208.00$            

5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊ {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ
9ȄǇŜƴŘƛǘǳǊŜǎ
Eligible Developer Expense !ǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ

Due Care Activities: 

Phase I & Phase II ESA $2,595.00 $2,595.00
Baseline Environmental Assessment $3,468.00 $3,468.00

Hazardous Materials Inspection $3,400.00 $3,400.00
Environmental Response Activities: $0.00

Soil Disposal $193,393 $193,393.00
Fill $55,788 $55,788.00

Underground Storage Tank Removal $5,471 $5,471.00
Soft Costs $26,940 $26,940.00

Brownfield Plan: development of plan $17,000 $17,000.00
Subtotal for invoice packet #1  сκнтκнлнп фΣпсоΦлл$            нфуΣрфнΦлл$         олуΣлррΦлл$        
Subtotal Developer 9,463.00$            298,592.00$        308,055.00$       

Non‐Interest Payments Approved Distributed
1st TIF Payment of 2023 TIR 8/22/24 9,463.00$            12,133.05$           21,596.05$          
2nd TIF Payment of 2024 TIR pending 5/22/25 ‐$   11,906.53$          11,906.53$         

Subtotal Developer 9,463.00$            24,039.58$          33,502.58$         

Remaining Balances after Payments
Subtotal Developer ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  
Total Remaining Balances of all Entities ‐$                   274,552.42$     274,552.42$    
Transfers to Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (643) {ǘŀǘŜ [ƻŎŀƭ ¢ƻǘŀƭ

total allowed by BF plan фΣпсоΦлл нфуΣрфнΦлл олуΣлррΦлл

1st transfer from 2024 TIR 8/22/2024 2,036.46 0.00 2,036.46
2nd transfer from 2023 TIR 5/22/2025 7,426.54 0.00 7,426.54

Subtotal to LBRF 9,463.00 0.00 9,463.00
Total remaining to collect in Local Brownfield Revoling fund (643) 0.00 298,592.00 нфуΣрфнΦлл

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Reimbursement Analysis Review
KALSEE Credit Union Comstock, MI

May 22, 2025

Item 6 b i 4



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
Macy Walters
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI  49008

May 14, 2025
Project No: 2411710.00
Invoice No: 000000451035

Project 2411710.00 KCBRA/WO 18-J. Smith Apts-802 N. Westnedge, 438 & 442 W. 
Frank, Kalamazoo

For Professional Services through April 25, 2025
Brownfield Plan
Due Diligence
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Brownfield Project Analyst 4.25 74.30 315.78
Senior Hydrogeologist .75 95.50 71.63
Senior Brownfield Specialist 4.25 95.50 405.88

Totals 9.25 793.29
Total Labor 793.29

793.29Total this Task

793.29Total this Phase

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Fee 0.00 1,489.13 1,489.13
Labor 793.29 0.00 793.29
Totals 793.29 1,489.13 2,282.42

Billing Limits Current Prior To-Date
Total Billings 793.29 21,046.07 21,839.36

Limit 34,495.00
Remaining 12,655.64

793.29Total this Invoice

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Fee 0.00 21,046.07 21,046.07
Labor 793.29 0.00 793.29
Totals 793.29 21,046.07 21,839.36

Item 6 c i

mrwalt
Highlight



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI  49008

May 14, 2025
Project No: 2500502.00
Invoice No: 000000451050

Project 2500502.00 KCBRA/W.O. 2025-3 –5928 E. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo, MI
W.O. 2025-3, Amendment No. 1
For Professional Services through April 25, 2025
Phase I ESA
Due Diligence
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Environmental Scientist 21.50 106.00 2,279.00
Senior Hydrogeologist .75 150.00 112.50
Senior Brownfield Specialist .50 134.00 67.00

Totals 22.75 2,458.50
Total Labor 2,458.50

Reimbursable Expenses
Mileage

4/16/2025 Bigler, Aaron Mileage for Site 
Reconnaissance

14.70

Total Reimbursables 1.1 times 14.70 16.17

2,474.67Total this Task

Geospatial
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
GIS Specialist 3.50 118.00 413.00

Totals 3.50 413.00
Total Labor 413.00

413.00Total this Task

Expenses
Reimbursable Expenses

Miscellaneous
4/4/2025 Savoy, Ariane BS&A 6.35

Total Reimbursables 1.1 times 6.35 6.99

6.99Total this Task

Support Services

Item 6 d i



Labor
Hours Rate Amount

Administrative Assistant 1.00 91.00 91.00
Totals 1.00 91.00
Total Labor 91.00

91.00Total this Task

2,985.66Total this Phase

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Labor 2,962.50 0.00 2,962.50
Expense 23.16 0.00 23.16
Totals 2,985.66 0.00 2,985.66

Hazardous Materials Inspection
Due Diligence
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Environmental Specialsit 1.50 96.00 144.00
Senior Brownfield Specialist 3.00 134.00 402.00

Totals 4.50 546.00
Total Labor 546.00

546.00Total this Task

546.00Total this Phase

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Labor 546.00 0.00 546.00
Totals 546.00 0.00 546.00

GPR Survey
Due Diligence
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Senior Hydrogeologist 1.25 150.00 187.50
Senior Brownfield Specialist 1.75 134.00 234.50

Totals 3.00 422.00
Total Labor 422.00

422.00Total this Task

422.00Total this Phase

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Labor 422.00 0.00 422.00
Totals 422.00 0.00 422.00

Sub-Slab Soil Gas Sampling
Due Diligence

Page 2



Labor
Hours Rate Amount

Environmental Scientist .75 106.00 79.50
Senior Hydrogeologist 4.00 150.00 600.00

Totals 4.75 679.50
Total Labor 679.50

679.50Total this Task

679.50Total this Phase

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Labor 679.50 0.00 679.50
Totals 679.50 0.00 679.50

Billing Limits Current Prior To-Date
Total Billings 4,633.16 0.00 4,633.16

Limit 23,700.00
Remaining 19,066.84

4,633.16Total this Invoice

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Labor 4,610.00 0.00 4,610.00
Expense 23.16 0.00 23.16
Totals 4,633.16 0.00 4,633.16

Page 3

mrwalt
Highlight



Flowers Automotive 
Recyclers 1110 Fulford St 
 Kalamazoo, MI 49001 

4/22/25 

To Whom It May Concern, 

We respectfully submit this letter as part of our application for funding consideration 
related to the acquisition of an industrial property to support the expansion of Flowers 
Automotive Recyclers. We are also requesting a waiver of the standard application 
fee. 

Our company is pursuing the acquisition of 1008 E Crosstown Parkway, 
Kalamazoo, MI 49001, and adjacent parcels, ideally suited for our B2B automotive 
dismantling and recycling operations. The property meets all zoning and EPA 
requirements for our intended use, and the parcel is aligned with our goals for 
operational scaling, environmental compliance, and community investment. 

We are requesting approximately $25,000.00 or actual costs to cover:

Environmental assessments (Phase One, limited Phase Two, and BEA) 

As part of our plan, a 60-day due diligence period is in place. We are asking that 
during this time, the KCBRA considers ordering a Phase I Environmental 
Assessment, with a limited Phase II if contamination is suspected, and a Baseline 
Environmental Assessment to be filed within 45 days of purchase to help ensure 
environmental some primary responsible party liability protections are in place. 

This project will result in job creation, improved environmental outcomes, and 
economic reinvestment in the Kalamazoo region. 
We are working with the property owner to schedule all necessary inspections, and 
can provide site access as needed. 

Sincerely, 
Ronald Flowers 

Flowers Automotive Recyclers 

2698882512 
 info@flowersautomotive.com 

Item 7 a i



Parcel Information: 

Address: 1008 E Crosstown Parkway, Kalamazoo, MI 49001 
Parcel ID: 06-23-112-027 
Zoning: M-1 (Light Industrial) 
Lot Size: 1.18 acres 
Building Size: Approximately 16,000 square feet 
Flood Zone: 26077C0187E 

Google street view image taken in  Aug. 2023



Rev 3/23/2023 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
PART I PROJECT APPLICATION 

Please provide information in the areas listed below, if available. (Please attach additional pages if needed) 

1 Date of Application: 

.ǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ LƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ 
2 Name of Applicant: 
3 Business Address: 

4 Business Telephone Number: 
5 Contact Person(s) & Title: 
6 Contact Person(s) Telephone Number: 
7 Contact Person(s) Fax Number: 
8 Contact Person(s) Email Address: 
9 Entity Type: Proprietorship 

Partnership 
Corporation 

Other (specify) 
10 Describe nature and history of business: 

11 List similar projects developed over the last five years (if any): 

tǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ {ƛǘŜ LƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ 
12 Address(es) (if known): 
13 Tax IDs: 
14 Present Owner(s): 
15 Date Present Owner(s) Acquired Property (if known): 

16 Does applicant have land control: No Yes 
If yes, please describe (owner, lessee, option or purchase agreement, etc.: 

17 Any curren 
18 Is applicant 
19 Is access to site permitted? 

20 Project Type: New 
Relocation 
Expansion 
Rehabilitation 

 
 

No Yes 

21 Project Size: 
Parcel Size (acres): 
Existing building area (sq ft): 
New building area (sq ft): 

tly known environmental issues? 
t a liable party for environmental issues at site? No Yes 
  

4/22/25

Ronald L Flowers Jr

1110 Fulford St Kalamazoo Mi 49001
269 888 2512

Owner

269 830 3343

2698882054

info@flowersautomotive.com

X

Flowers Automotive Recyclers is a Kalamazoo-based automotive dismantling company specializing in B2B resale of vehicle components and
scrap materials. Established in 2020, the business has grown through consistent demand for drivetrain parts, catalytic converters, and short steel. 
With over 3,000 customer inquiries monthly, the company operates a high-efficiency, volume-based model focused on sustainability, workforce
development, and circular economy practices.

While this is our first property acquisition, Flowers Automotive Recyclers has successfully developed and scaled multiple operational projects since 2020, including:
Establishment of a Full-Service Auto Recycling Yard: Built from the ground up, including vehicle intake, dismantling systems, and resale channels.  Material Processing 
and Logistics Expansion (2023): Introduced tracking systems for short steel, cores, and catalytic converter sales with volume-based efficiency.  Collaboration with Local 
Auto Yards: Established informal mutual referral partnerships with larger operations such as Crosstown Auto and Morris Rose.  These initiatives demonstrate our 
capability to scale responsibly while reinvesting in operational infrastructure and workforce development.

1008 E Crosstown Parkway, Kalamazoo, MI 49001

X

None

X
X

X

X

1.18 acres
Approximately 16,000 square feet



Rev 3/23/2023 

22 Project timeline (proposed or actual): 
Start date: Completion Date: 

23 
Additional Materials (Please put an X for those items that are available and attach to your application, if possible): 

Business Plan Financial Commitments 

¢ŀȄ .ŀǎŜ LƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ 

Market Analysis Environmental Information/Reports 
Architectural/Site Plans 

24 Total Investment Anticipated: 
If available, please attach a detailed projection of project costs and proposed funding sources. 
Categories of costs may include real estate, demolition, environmental, new construction, renovation, 
new equipment, and other as appropriate. 

25 Eligible activities for which potential funding may be sought: 
Phase I ESA 

BEA 

Surveys (asbestos and Lead)
Additional Response Activities 

Lead and Asbestos Abatement 
Infrastructure Improvements 

Phase II ESA 
Due Care 

Clean-up Planning
Demolition 

Site Preparation (City of 
Kalamazoo, City of Portage) 

26 Current State Equalized Value: 
27 Estimated State Equalized Value after Project Completion: 
28 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) Employees: 

FTE Jobs Retained: FTE Jobs Created: 

Signature on this page is required along with the contact information requested. 

I certify that the foregoing is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and that I am hereby authorized to submit this 
application on behalf of the proposed project and requesting party 

Signature 
Title 
Direct office or cell number 

Fax number 
Email address 

Date 

If you have questions regarding the application, please contact: 

Kalamazoo County Government 

Macy Rose Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator Email: mrwalt@kalcounty.com 

Department of Planning and Development 
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
201 W. Kalamazoo Avenue, Room 207 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 
Office Phone: (269) 384-8305 

4/7/25 6/7/25

X

1,000,000

X

450,000

6 18

4/22/25
Owner

269 830 3343

269 888 2054

info@flowersautomotive.com

 X



1

2
3

4
5
6
7
8

9
10
11

12

Architect:

Other:

13

Total Capital Investment: -$  

Eligible Brownfield Activities (Specify):
Other (Specify below):

Revised 

tǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ CǳƴŘƛƴƎ wŜǉǳŜǎǘŜŘ
Total Investment Anticipated: -$    

Land:
New Construction/Site Improvements:

tǊƻƧŜŎǘ ¢ŜŀƳ
Bank/Financing:
Legal Counsel:
Environmental Consultant:

Construction Management:

Additional Materials (Please put an X for those items that are available and attach to your application, if possible):
Business Plan Financial Commitments

Market Analysis Environmental Information/Reports
Architectural/Site Plans

tǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ tǊƻƧŜŎǘ {ƛǘŜ LƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ
Address(es) (if known):

Project timeline (proposed or actual):
Start date: Completion Date:

Tax IDs:

Contact Person(s) Telephone Number:
Contact Person(s) Fax Number:
Contact Person(s) Email Address:

Business Address:

Business Telephone Number:
Contact Person(s) & Title:

Please provide information in the areas listed below, if available. (Please attach additional pages if needed)
Date of Application:

.ǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ LƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ
Name of Applicant:

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
PART II PROJECT APPLICATION

5-14-2025

Flowers Automotive Recycling

1110 Fulford Street Kalamazoo, MI 49001

269-888-2512
Ronald L Flowers Jr.

269-830-3343
269-888-2054
info@flowersautomotive.com

1008 E. Crosstown Parkway Kalamazoo, MI 49001
06-23-112-027

April 2025 June 2025

X

Kalamazoo Forward Ventures
Hamilton Law

Ann Gilchrist ( EGLE)

    1,000,000
450000

25000
425000

Equipment/ Operational Improvements

     1,000,000



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

Michigan Economic Development Corporation

14 Do you intend on or anticipate appealing the property taxes for this project site? No
Yes

Signature on this page is required along with the contact information requested.

Date
Title

lanning and Development

201 W. Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49007

If you have questions regarding the application, please contact:

Direct office or cell number
Fax number

Email address

Revised 

Total Brownfield Funding Requested: -$  

If available, please attach a detailed projection of project costs and proposed funding sources. Categories of costs may 
include real estate, demolition, environmental, new construction, renovation, new equipment, and other as appropriate.

I certify that the foregoing is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and that I am hereby authorized to submit this 
application on behalf of the proposed project and requesting party

Signature

Brownfield Redevelopment Grant:
Brownfield Redevelopment Loan:
Brownfield Assessment:

Community Revitalization Program Loan and/or Grant:
Business Development Program Loan and/or Grant:

Funding Sources Requested:

Authority Grant/Loan Funding:
Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Work Plan(s):
Other Funding (example EPA Assessment grant funding):

$25,000.00

$25,000.00

X

5-14-25
Owner

269-830-3343
269-888-2054

info@flowersautomotive.com



Work Order 2025 – 4 

1 

{ŎƻǇŜ ƻŦ {ŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ

/ƻƴǘǊŀŎǘ ŦƻǊ tǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭ {ŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ 
YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ  

!ǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ǘƻ !ƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ 5ŀǘŜŘ March 7, 2022, Addendum No. 3 and assigned to FISHBECK 
²ƻǊƪ hǊŘŜǊ bƻΦ нлнрπп 5ŀǘŜŘ May 22, 2025 

.ŜǘǿŜŜƴ 

Y![!a!½hh /h¦b¢¸ .wh²bCL9[5 w959±9[hta9b¢ !¦¢IhwL¢¸ ό/[L9b¢ύ 
нлм ²9{¢ Y![!a!½hh !±9b¦9 
Y![!a!½hhΣ aL/ILD!b пфллт  

!ƴŘ 
CL{I.9/Y 
нфсл Lb¢9w{¢!¢9 t!wY²!¸ 
Y![!a!½hhΣ aL/ILD!b пфлпу 

{ǳōƧŜŎǘ aŀǘǘŜǊΥ CƭƻǿŜǊǎ !ǳǘƻƳƻǘƛǾŜ wŜŎȅŎƭŜǊǎ {ƛǘŜ πмллу 9Φ /Ǌƻǎǎǘƻǿƴ tŀǊƪǿŀȅΣ млмс 9Φ /Ǌƻǎǎǘƻǿƴ 
tŀǊƪǿŀȅΣ ммлт CƻǳǊǘƘ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ ŀƴŘ млмм CƻǳǊǘƘ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ 

CǳƴŘƛƴƎ {ƻǳǊŎŜΥ [ƻŎŀƭ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ wŜǾƻƭǾƛƴƎ CǳƴŘ 

CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-
referenced Contract, Addendum No. 3, and as assigned, and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope 
of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services:” 

David A. Stegink (269) 342-1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269-384-8112 (County phone #) 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the 
FISHBECK Representative above: 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By   David A. Stegink 

Title Chair Title  Vice President/Brownfield Program Manager 

Signature________________________ Signature________________________ 

Date  ______________ Date  ______________ 

Item 7 a ii



Work Order 2025 – 4 

2 

I.    {ŎƻǇŜ ƻŦ {ŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ 

It is Fishbeck’s understanding that the KCBRA has received a project application from Flower’s 
Automotive Recyclers seeking funding to support the acquisition and associated liability protection 
regarding four contiguous and adjacent industrial parcels within the city of Kalamazoo: 1008 E. 
Crosstown Parkway, 1016 E. Crosstown Parkway, 1107 Fourth Street, and 1011 Fourth Street. Flowers 
Automotive Recyclers would like to acquire the property to house their existing automotive dismantling and 
recycling business, which needs storage, a small office, and interior garage space. There is limited to no plans 
for redevelopment of the site as the existing structures and site layout seem to meet the current needs of 
the business. A previously conducted Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) from 2014 was also 
provided to the KCBRA in order to inform the level of assessment needed. There were nine Recognized 
Environmental Conditions (RECs) identified relating mainly to current and historical uses; diesel, fuel oil, and 
gasoline USTs; gasoline and oil ASTs; one confirmed release, offsite migration of volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs), coal storage and the demolition of many former structures on the site.  Flowers Automotive have 
requested completion of a Phase I ESA, a limited Phase II ESA, and completion of a Baseline Environmental 
Assessment (BEA). There is no known soil, groundwater, or soil gas analytical data for the site. While it is 
known that Phase II sampling will be recommended for the site in order to prepare a BEA, the scope of the 
Phase II ESA needed to inform due care responsibilities in order to achieve liability protection is not yet 
known. Therefore, Fishbeck proposes a staged assessment, starting with completion of a Phase I ESA and 
Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) survey of the entire site to adequately inform the level of recommended 
Phase II sampling.  

tƘŀǎŜ L 9{! 
Fishbeck will prepare a Phase I ESA compliant with the ASTM E1527 standard and the U.S. EPA 
rules for All Appropriate Inquiry to support acquisition of the property. The Phase I ESA will include 
a site inspection, review of historical resources, review of environmental databases, interviews 
with knowledgeable persons, and preparation of a report. The proposed cost assumes that 
additional conversations will be necessary between Fishbeck, the KCBRA, and the developer 
regarding potential environmental concerns and due care considerations associated with 
acquisition of the Crosstown property.  

DǊƻǳƴŘ tŜƴŜǘǊŀǘƛƴƎ wŀŘŀǊ {ǳǊǾŜȅ 
Fishbeck has also included budget to conduct a Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) survey on the 
subject property. Based on discussions with the KCBRA, the GPR survey will evaluate the potential 
for remaining underground storage tanks at the Crosstown property.  The GPR survey results will 
help inform the Phase II ESA scope of work. A GPR survey on the entire lot is proposed and a 
summary report of findings will be prepared upon completion of the survey. 

LLΦ /ƻƳǇŜƴǎŀǘƛƻƴ

Phase I ESA………………………………………………………………………………………………………..……... $ 3,500 
GPR Survey………………………………………………………………………………….……………………………..  $ 3,200 
¢ƻǘŀƭ      Ϸ сΣтлл 

Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time and 
materials basis invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services, between 
FISHBECK and CLIENT and not to exceed the budget of $6,700 without prior authorization.   



Work Order 2025 – 4 

3 

LLLΦ {ŎƘŜŘǳƭŜ

Fishbeck anticipates that the scope of services can be completed within four to five weeks from 
authorization to proceed. 

Z:\Envirologic\Projects\Projects_K\Kalamazoo County\Brownfield Redevelopment Authority\Work Orders and Contracts\Fishbeck 
General Environmental Consulting -Work Order 2025 - 4 Flowers Automotive P1,GPR.docx/ 



aŜƳƻ 
¢hΥ aŀŎȅ ²ŀƭǘŜǊǎΣ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƻǊΣ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ 

wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ 

CwhaΥ ¢ƘŜǊŜǎŜ {ŜŀǊƭŜǎΣ {ŜƴƛƻǊ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ {ǇŜŎƛŀƭƛǎǘ 

5!¢9Υ aŀȅ ннΣ нлнр 

w9Υ DŜƴŜǊŀƭκ[.wC CǳƴŘƛƴƎ ¦ǇŘŀǘŜǎ 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. 

мΦ DŜƴŜǊŀƭ 9ƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ wŜǾƛŜǿ

tǊƻƧŜŎǘ bƻΥ нолпрп ς ²ΦhΦ нлноπмΣ ²ΦhΦ нлнпπмΣ ŀƴŘ ²ΦhΦ нлнрπм

¦ǇŘŀǘŜΥ

General Review: Fishbeck is still in process of transitioning to a new software system. Some project
invoices have been finalized this month and others will have the billing caught up next month. There
are no invoices for consideration this month related to general environmental review services.
Fishbeck has engaged in potential project and scope discussions with the Brownfield Administrator
and Work Order 2025-4 has been prepared for the board’s consideration this month regarding the
Flowers Automotive Recycling project.

Administrative Support: Fishbeck attended the May Kalamazoo County Land Bank Authority meeting
on behalf of the KCBRA. KCLBA meetings will now be held at 9:30am on the second Thursday of every
other month. The KCLBA has found the federal rounds of the Blight Elimination Grant Program (BEP)
administered through the State Land Bank Authority (SLBA) to be cumbersome in implementation, but
they are working with legal counsel and the SLBA to work through these challenges. The KCLBA board
approved and adopted a Brownfield Redevelopment Policy. Details of the policy were not discussed.
Meetings with the County Brownfield Administrator were discussed, including a request to the KCBRA
for a loan from the LBRF to reduce the interest rate of an existing construction loan. Meetings
regarding the discussion of housing TIF with Habitat for Humanity and the County Brownfield
Administrator were also discussed.

нΦ Iŀōƛǘŀǘ ŦƻǊ IǳƳŀƴƛǘȅ /ƻƻǇŜǊ ¢ƻǿƴǎƘƛǇ wŜǎƛŘŜƴǘƛŀƭ {ƛǘŜΣ муср /ƻƭōȅ !ǾŜƴǳŜ

tǊƻƧŜŎǘ bƻΥнрллнрн ς ²ΦhΦ нлнрπн

¦ǇŘŀǘŜΥ

The Phase I ESA document, which included discussion of the GPR findings, was issued last month. No
further assessment is warranted at this time. This project is complete.

Item 7 b i



aŜƳƻ ς DŜƴŜǊŀƭκ[.wC ¦ǇŘŀǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ LƴǾƻƛŎŜǎ 
aŀȅ ннΣ нлнр CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ μ tŀƎŜ н 

½Υξ9b±Lwh[hDL/ξtwhW9/¢{ξtwhW9/¢{ψYξY![!a!½hh /h¦b¢¸ξ.wh²bCL9[5 w959±9[hta9b¢ !¦¢IhwL¢¸ξнлнм 9t! .wh²bCL9[5 !{{9{{a9b¢ Dw!b¢ξLb±hL/9{ !b5 ¦t5!¢9{ξнлнрξa!¸ ннΣ нлнр 
a99¢LbD a!¢9wL![{ξY/.w! D9b9w![ !b5 [.wC C¦b5{ a9ah !b5 ahb¢I[¸ ¦t5!¢9 рπннπнрΦ5h/·

3. wƻƻƴŜȅΩǎ {ƻǳƭ CƻƻŘ ²ŀƎƻƴΣ рфну 9 aƛŎƘƛƎŀƴ !ǾŜƴǳŜΣ /ƻƳǎǘƻŎƪ ¢ƻǿƴǎƘƛǇ
tǊƻƧŜŎǘ bƻΥнрллрлн ς ²ΦhΦ нлнрπо

¦ǇŘŀǘŜΥ

The KCBRA approved a project application in March from Jerome and Jaqueline Hardin, emerging developers 

seeking funding support to conduct due diligence services for a commercial property located at 5928 E. 
Michigan Avenue in Comstock Township. The developers wish to acquire the property to use for their 
existing food truck and also begin renovation the existing structure on site to expand the restaurant 
services. The site is a former gas station, LUST site and a designated “facility”. Some environmental 
assessment work has been completed and while this assessment has not been reviewed in detail, it is 
anticipated that some unknown impacts may still exist. The developers are waiting on Township 
approval to rezone the property to allow the use of food truck operations but verbal communications 
indicate the township is supportive of rezoning. The KCBRA approved Work Order 2025-3 to conduct a 
Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), Hazardous Materials Inspection (HMI), and a Baseline 
Environmental Assessment (BEA), and Documentation of Due Care. The Phase I ESA has identified 
concerns beyond the previously known “open” LUST status of the site as a former filling station. 
Historical Sanborn maps depict three (3) USTs on western portions of the site with no documentation 
identified regarding the potential removal/status of the tanks. Additionally, the previously identified 
concentrations of select contaminants exceed current EGLE volatilization to indoor air pathway 
(VIAP) screening levels, a condition for which EGLE recommends further assessment to determine if 
response/mitigation may be appropriate relative to vapor intrusion. Based on these findings the due 
diligence period was extended by the seller and closing is anticipated May 30, 2025. The KCBRA 
approved WO 2025-3 Amendment No. 1 in April to complete a ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
survey to support a determination of the potential continued presence of buried tanks and to 
complete sub-slab soil gas sampling to support an evaluation of the potential need for 
response/mitigation relative to potential vapor intrusion.  

The GPR survey has been completed and concludes that no unknown tanks were identified. Based on 
the results of the GPR survey it appears that the three (3) tanks depicted in the SW corner of the site 
on historical Sanborn maps were removed without any documentation generated during their 
removal.  Based upon the lack of indications of buried tanks in the GPR survey, Fishbeck is not 
recommending additional investigation into the potential continued presence of tanks at this time.  

Sub-slab soil gas sampling has occurred and we are waiting on analytical data from the lab. Initial 
discussions regarding the scope of proposed renovations and timing as it relates to completion of the 
hazardous materials inspection have determined that the field work for the HMI will be scheduled 
post-acquisition in June. 



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

05/22/2025

230454 2023-1 General Environmental Review (2023) 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   420292 2/16/2023 $160.00

BT1 421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

423214 5/10/2023 $2,147.75

424170 6/8/2023 $2,226.61

425333 7/12/2023 $2,294.95

426213 8/7/2023 $806.25

427541 9/7/2023 $1,420.00

429022 10/9/2023 $963.75

429750 11/2/2023 $652.50

431430 12/7/2023 $585.00

432686 1/9/2024 $365.00

Phase Subtotal 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   $11,936.81 $2,063.19

Contractual Administrative (2023) 6,000.00$     6,000.00$   421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

423214 5/10/2023 $288.75

432686 1/9/2024 $679.50

Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$   6,000.00$   $1,283.25 $4,716.75

2023 Project Total $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $13,220.06 $6,779.94

230454 2024-1 General Environmental Review (2024) 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   433684 2/13/2024 $1,142.50

BT2 434692 3/12/2021 $627.50

435834 4/10/2024 $1,120.00

436931 5/13/2024 $922.50

438958 6/18/2024 $1,772.00

439225 7/9/2024 $800.00

441203 8/13/2024 $1,138.00

442374 9/12/2024 $2,024.75

443527 10/11/2024 $1,690.00

444673 11/7/2024 $1,205.00

445828 12/4/2024 $212.50

447349 1/14/2025 $683.24

449918 3/3/2025 $63.75

Phase Subtotal 14,000.00$   14,000.00$   $13,401.74 $598.26

Contractual Administrative (2024) 3,000.00$   3,000.00$   

441203 8/13/2024 $210.00

442374 9/12/2024 $273.00

443527 10/11/2024 $220.50

444673 11/7/2024 $351.05

445828 12/4/2024 $375.00

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$   3,000.00$   $1,429.55 $1,570.45

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

05/22/2025

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

Grant App - EPA Grant Applications 3,000.00$   3,000.00$   

444673 11/7/2024 $717.50

445828 12/4/2024 $2,205.00

449918 3/3/2025 $63.75

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$   3,000.00$   $2,986.25 $13.75

2024 Project Total 20,000.00$   20,000.00$   $17,817.54 $2,182.46

230454 2025-1 General Environmental Review (2025) 20,000.00$   20,000.00$   448686 2/14/2025 $1,802.50

BT3 449919 3/3/2025 $5,311.08

Phase Subtotal 20,000.00$   20,000.00$   $7,113.58 $12,886.42

Contractual Administrative (2025) 1,000.00$   1,000.00$   448686 2/14/2025 $220.22

449919 3/3/2025 $78.33

Phase Subtotal 1,000.00$   1,000.00$   $298.55 $701.45

2025 Project Total $21,000.00 $21,000.00 $7,412.13 $13,587.87

190048 2019-2 Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight

W.O. Approved 

Total Approved budget of $3,000.00 3,000.00$      3,000.00$   05421 4/18/2019 $2,642.50 $10,565.50 $10,565.50

Amendment #1 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$     5,000.00$   05490 5/10/2019 $140.00 $10,425.50 $10,425.50

Amendment #2 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$     5,000.00$   05603 6/14/2019 $1,662.50 $8,763.00 $8,763.00

Contingency Amendment #3- $6,500 6,500.00$     6,500.00$   05665 7/16/2019 $1,110.00 $7,653.00 $7,653.00

Budget adjustment to bring approved budget current 5-19-23 (6,292.00)$    (6,292.00)$    05723 8/14/2019 $788.75 $6,864.25 $6,864.25

Project Subtotal 13,208.00$   13,208.00$   05787 9/6/2019 $35.00 $6,829.25 $6,829.25

06215 1/7/2020 $26.25 $6,803.00 $6,803.00

06329 2/7/2020 $131.25 $6,671.75 $6,671.75

06442 3/19/2020 $210.00 $6,461.75 $6,461.75

06579 5/12/2020 $113.75 $6,348.00 $6,348.00

06655 6/17/2020 $52.50 $6,295.50 $6,295.50

06714 7/9/2020 $105.00 $6,190.50 $6,190.50

06808 8/11/2020 $78.75 $6,111.75 $6,111.75

06895 9/8/2020 $52.50 $6,059.25 $6,059.25

06994 10/12/2020 $446.25 $5,613.00 $5,613.00

07086 11/5/2020 $551.25 $5,061.75 $5,061.75

07163 12/7/2020 $183.75 $4,878.00 $4,878.00



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

05/22/2025

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

07282 1/14/2021 $645.73 $4,232.27 $4,232.27

07465 3/9/2021 $446.25 $3,786.02 $3,786.02

07514 4/8/2021 $301.77 $3,484.25 $3,484.25

07669 5/21/2021 $402.50 $3,081.75 $3,081.75

07764 6/16/2021 $26.25 $3,055.50 $3,055.50

07955 8/9/2021 $78.75 $2,976.75 $2,976.75

08127 10/6/2021 $26.25 $2,950.50 $2,950.50

08659 2/18/2022 $52.50 $2,898.00 $2,898.00

08768 3/10/2022 $26.25 $2,871.75 $2,871.75

08840 4/8/2022 $262.50 $2,609.25 $2,609.25

08975 5/10/2022 $172.50 $2,436.75 $2,436.75

09125 6/13/2022 $28.75 $2,408.00 $2,408.00

09390 8/18/2022 $57.50 $2,350.50 $2,350.50

09618 10/12/2022 $86.25 $2,264.25 $2,264.25

09744 11/9/2022 $373.75 $1,890.50 $1,890.50

09856 12/12/2022 $230.00 $1,660.50 $1,660.50

421239 3/16/2023 $28.75 $1,631.75 $1,631.75

423213 5/10/2023 $86.25 $1,545.50 $1,545.50

424171 6/8/2023 $1,437.50 $108.00 $108.00

Project Subtotal $13,100.00 $108.00

190148 2019-4 Paper City Development LLC, Vicksburg, Michigan - EGLE Loan Oversight 05789 9/6/2019 $1,470.00 $38,530.00 $38,530.00

W.O. Approved 40,000.00$   $40,000.00 05896 10/7/2019 $787.50 $37,742.50 $37,742.50

05994 11/7/2019 $1,242.50 $36,500.00 $36,500.00

06128 12/9/2019 $280.00 $36,220.00 $36,220.00

06214 1/7/2020 $105.00 $36,115.00 $36,115.00

'06330 2/7/2020 $385.00 $35,730.00 $35,730.00

06441 3/19/2020 $840.00 $34,890.00 $34,890.00

06516 4/8/2020 $271.25 $34,618.75 $34,618.75

06580 5/12/2020 $840.00 $33,778.75 $33,778.75

06656 6/17/2020 $236.25 $33,542.50 $33,542.50

06713 7/9/2020 $130.00 $33,412.50 $33,412.50

06809 8/11/2020 $78.75 $33,333.75 $33,333.75

06896 9/8/2020 $315.00 $33,018.75 $33,018.75

06982 10/12/2020 $297.50 $32,721.25 $32,721.25

07042 11/5/2020 $52.50 $32,668.75 $32,668.75

07162 12/7/202 $78.75 $32,590.00 $32,590.00

07346 2/5/2021 $52.50 $32,537.50 $32,537.50

07464 3/9/2021 $262.50 $32,275.00 $32,275.00

07515 4/8/2021 $35.00 $32,240.00 $32,240.00

07670 5/21/2021 $700.00 $31,540.00 $31,540.00

07956 8/9/2021 $131.25 $31,408.75 $31,408.75

08051 9/14/2021 $26.25 $31,382.50 $31,382.50

08355 12/7/2021 $210.00 $31,172.50 $31,172.50

08767 3/10/2022 $288.75 $30,883.75 $30,883.75

08839 4/8/2022 $393.75 $30,490.00 $30,490.00

08976 5/10/2022 $28.75 $30,461.25 $30,461.25

09126 6/13/2022 $86.25 $30,375.00 $30,375.00

422268 4/17/2023 $28.75 $30,346.25 $30,346.25

Project Subtotal $9,653.75 $30,346.25



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

05/22/2025

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

08138 10/6/2021 $11,504.97 $9,495.03 $9,495.03

210178 2021-2 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp. 21,000.00$   21,000.00$   08253 11/4/2021 $308.51 $9,186.52 $9,186.52

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $8,084.02 $8,084.02

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $7,187.02 $7,187.02

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $7,057.02 $7,057.02

09079 6/8/2022 $225.00 $6,832.02 $6,832.02

Project Subtoal $14,167.98 $6,832.02

Phase II ESA 15,000.00$   $15,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $9,787.47 $5,212.53 $5,212.53

08253 11/4/2021 $262.50 $4,950.03 $4,950.03

08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $3,847.53 $3,847.53

08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $2,950.53 $2,950.53

$12,049.47 $2,950.53

BEA/Due Care 3,000.00$   $3,000.00 08138 10/6/2021 $1,717.50 $1,282.50 $1,282.50

08253 11/4/2021 $46.01 $1,236.49 $1,236.49

08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $1,106.49 $1,106.49

09079 6/8/2022 $262.50 $843.99 $843.99

$2,156.01 $843.99

Contingency 3,000.00$   $3,000.00

$0.00 $3,000.00

231417 2023-2 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive, Parchment - VMS Installation 100,000.00$   $100,000.00 434709 3/13/2024 $87,897.02 $22,102.98 $22,102.98

BT2 LBRF funding -Amendment March 2024 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 231417 4/10/2024 $1,384.65 $20,718.33 $20,718.33

439172 7/8/2024 $537.50 $20,180.83 $20,180.83

443511 10/10/2024 $437.55 $19,743.28 $19,743.28

445436 12/4/2024 $115.00 $19,628.28 $19,628.28

448166 2/10/2025 $4,534.50 $15,093.78 $15,093.78

449775 3/3/2025 $10,144.55 $4,949.23 $4,949.23

$110,000 $110,000.00 Project Subtotal $105,050.77 $4,949.23

240058 2023-3 Clarklogic Development at W. Williard Street, Kalamazoo, MI 24,000.00$   $24,000.00 433674 2/12/2024 $13,707.93

LBRF Funding 435843 4/10/2024 $10,292.07

Project Subtotoal $24,000.00 $0.00



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review

Budget and Cost Summary 

05/22/2025

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount
Task Budget 

Remaining

Total Budget 

Remaining

2500252 2025-2 Habitat for Humanity - Cooper Twp. 5,100.00$   5,100.00$   448692 2/14/2025 $285.25 $4,814.75 $4,814.75

449934 3/3/2025 $2,323.25 $2,491.50 $2,491.50

451038* 5/14/2025 $2,477.50 $14.00 $14.00

Project Subtoal $5,086.00 $14.00

Phase I ESA 3,000.00$   $3,000.00 448692 2/14/2025 $218.25 $2,781.75

449934 3/3/2025 $2,222.75 $559.00

451038 5/14/2025 $314.75 $244.25

$2,755.75 $244.25

GPR Survey 2,100.00$   $2,100.00 448692 2/147/2025 $67.00 $2,033.00

449934 3/3/2025 $100.50 $1,932.50

451038 5/14/2025 $2,162.75 -$230.25

$2,330.25 -$230.25

2500502 2025-3 Rooney's Soul Food Wagon -5928 E. Michigan Avenue, Comstock Township 14,000.00$   $14,000.00 451050* 5/14/2025 $4,633.16 $19,066.84 $19,066.84

Admendment #1 9,700.00$   $9,700.00

23,700.00$   $23,700.00

Project Subtoal $4,633.16 $19,066.84

Phase I ESA 3,000.00$   $3,000.00 451050 5/14/2025 $2,985.66 $14.34 $14.34

$2,985.66 $14.34

Hazardous Materials Inspection 6,000.00$   $6,000.00 451050 5/14/2025 $546.00 $5,454.00 $5,454.00

$546.00 $5,454.00

BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$   $5,000.00

$0.00 $5,000.00

Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) Geophysical Survey 2,700.00$   $2,700.00 451050 5/14/2025 $422.00 $2,278.00 $2,278.00

$422.00 $2,278.00

Sub-Slab Soil Gas Sampling 7,000.00$   $7,000.00 451050 5/14/2025 $679.50 $6,320.50 $6,320.50

$679.50 $6,320.50

Total Project Budgets $298,008.00 $298,008.00 Total $214,141.39 $83,866.61

Note: There were no invoices for consideration in April 2025



aŜƳƻ 
¢hΥ aŀŎȅ ²ŀƭǘŜǊǎΣ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƻǊΣ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ 

wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ 

CwhaΥ ¢ƘŜǊŜǎŜ {ŜŀǊƭŜǎΣ {ŜƴƛƻǊ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ {ǇŜŎƛŀƭƛǎǘ 

5!¢9Υ aŀȅ ннΣ нлнр 

w9Υ C¸нм 9t! DǊŀƴǘ ¦ǇŘŀǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ LƴǾƻƛŎŜǎ 

¢Ƙƛǎ ƳŜƳƻǊŀƴŘǳƳ ǎŜǊǾŜǎ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ ǳǇŘŀǘŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ 
.ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ όY/.w!ύ ŦƻǊ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŀƴŘ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜǎ ǊŜƴŘŜǊŜŘ ƻƴ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘǎ 
ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ C¸нм 9t! .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ !ǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ DǊŀƴǘΦ  

мΦ /ƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅ hǳǘǊŜŀŎƘ ŀƴŘ tǊƻƎǊŀƳƳŀǘƛŎ
tǊƻƧŜŎǘ bƻΥ 9нмлннф π²ΦhΦ нΣ !ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘ bƻΦ п 

¦ǇŘŀǘŜΥ 

Fishbeck is continuing the transition to a new accounting software system. Some projects will see invoices this 
month and others will have billing caught up next month. There are no invoices for consideration this month 
under this task. No further outreach efforts are planned as all grant funds have been allocated. Fishbeck is 
continuing programmatic activities during these final stages of the grant period. 

нΦ WΦ {ƳƛǘƘ [ŀǳƴŘǊȅ ŀƴŘ !ǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘǎΣ улн bΦ ²ŜǎǘƴŜŘƎŜ !ǾŜΦΣ поу ŀƴŘ ппн ²Φ CǊŀƴƪ {ǘΦΣ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻΣ aƛŎƘƛƎŀƴ
tǊƻƧŜŎǘ bƻΥ нпммтм ς ²ΦhΦ муΦ !ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘ bƻΦ м

¦ǇŘŀǘŜΥ 

WŜǊŜƳƛŀƘ {ƳƛǘƘ 9ƴǘŜǊǇǊƛǎŜǎ нΣ [[/ ŘŜǎƛǊŜǎ ǘƻ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜ ŀƴŘ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇ ǘƘŜ ǘƘǊŜŜ ǳƴŘŜǾŜƭƻǇŜŘ ǇŀǊŎŜƭǎΣ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ŀǘ улн 
bΦ ²ŜǎǘƴŜŘƎŜ !ǾŜƴǳŜΣ поу ŀƴŘ ппн ²Φ CǊŀƴƪ {ǘǊŜŜǘΣ ƛƴǘƻ WΦ {ƳƛǘƘ [ŀǳƴŘǊȅ ŀƴŘ !ǇŀǊǘƳŜƴǘǎΦ aƻǎǘ ǊŜŎŜƴǘƭȅ ǘƘŜ 
ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ bƻǊǘƘǎƛŘŜ [ŀǳƴŘǊȅΦ aǊΦ {ƳƛǘƘ Ƙŀǎ ŀ [ŜǘǘŜǊ ƻŦ LƴǘŜƴǘ ƛƴ ǇƭŀŎŜ ŀƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ǎƛǘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƻŦ 
ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΦ  Lǘ ǿŀǎ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭƭȅ ŀƴǘƛŎƛǇŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ǿƻǳƭŘ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎŜ ƛƴ {ǇǊƛƴƎ ƻŦ нлнр ǿƛǘƘ ŀƴ 
ŀƴǘƛŎƛǇŀǘŜŘ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘƛƻƴ ŘŀǘŜ ƻŦ {ǇǊƛƴƎ нлнсΦ  

¢ƘŜ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭ ²ƻǊƪ hǊŘŜǊ Іму ǿŀǎ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ƛƴ WǳƴŜ нлнп ǘƻ ŀǳǘƘƻǊƛȊŜ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ¦Φ{Φ 9t! ŜƭƛƎƛōƛƭƛǘȅΣ ŀƴŘ ŀ tƘŀǎŜ 
L 9ƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ {ƛǘŜ !ǎǎŜǎǎƳŜƴǘ ό9{!ύΦ tƘŀǎŜ L 9{! ϧ tƘŀǎŜ LL 9{! ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜŘ ƛƴ нлмо 
ōŀǎŜŘ ǳǇƻƴ ƳǳƭǘƛǇƭŜ ŎƻƴŎŜǊƴǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ ŀǳǘƻƳƻǘƛǾŜ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΣ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ Ŧƛƭƭ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭΣ ŀƴŘ 
ŀŘƧƻƛƴƛƴƎ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘƛŜǎΦ  tƘŀǎŜ LL 9{! ǎŀƳǇƭƛƴƎ ƛƴ нлмо ǊŜǎǳƭǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ tb!ǎ ƛƴ ǎƻƛƭ ƛƴ ŜȄŎŜǎǎ ƻŦ 
ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ 9D[9 ŎƭŜŀƴǳǇ ŎǊƛǘŜǊƛŀΦ  !ƳŜƴŘƳŜƴǘ bƻΦ м ǘƻ ²ƻǊƪ hǊŘŜǊ му ǿŀǎ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ Y/.w! ōƻŀǊŘ ƛƴ Wǳƭȅ 
нлнп ǘƻ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ŀ tƘŀǎŜ LL 9{!Σ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ .9! ŀƴŘ 5ǳŜ /ŀǊŜ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ 
.ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴΦ  /ƻƴŎǳǊǊŜƴŎŜ ƻƴ ǎƛǘŜ ŜƭƛƎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ¦{9t! ǘƻƻƪ ƳǳŎƘ ƭƻƴƎŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ŀƴǘƛŎƛǇŀǘŜŘΣ ōǳǘ ǿŀǎ 
ǊŜŎŜƛǾŜŘ ƻƴ !ǳƎǳǎǘ мрΣ нлнпΦ ¢ƘŜ tƘŀǎŜ L 9{! ƛǎ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜ ŀƴŘ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ǘǿƻ wŜŎƻƎƴƛȊŜŘ 9ƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ 
/ƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ όw9/ǎύΥ ¢ƘŜ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŎŀƭ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ {ǳōƧŜŎǘ tǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ŀǎ ŀƴ ŀǳǘƻƳƻǘƛǾŜ ǊŜǇŀƛǊ ŀƴŘ ǎŜǊǾƛŎŜ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŦǊƻƳ 

Item 7 b ii



aŜƳƻ ς C¸нм 9t! DǊŀƴǘ ¦ǇŘŀǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ LƴǾƻƛŎŜǎ 
aŀȅ ннΣ нлнр  CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ μ tŀƎŜ н 
 

½Υξ9b±Lwh[hDL/ξtwhW9/¢{ξtwhW9/¢{ψYξY![!a!½hh /h¦b¢¸ξ.wh²bCL9[5 w959±9[hta9b¢ !¦¢IhwL¢¸ξнлнм 9t! .wh²bCL9[5 !{{9{{a9b¢ Dw!b¢ξLb±hL/9{ !b5 ¦t5!¢9{ξнлнрξa!¸ ннΣ нлнр 
a99¢LbD a!¢9wL![{ξY/.w! 9t! Dw!b¢ C¦b5{ a9ah !b5 ahb¢I[¸ ¦t5!¢9 рπннπнрΦ5h/· 

мффу ǘƻ нллф ǿŀǎ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ ŀƴ w9/Φ !ƭǎƻΣ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ Ŧƛƭƭ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ {ǳōƧŜŎǘ tǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ нлмо 
ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǎŜƭŜŎǘ tb!ǎ ƛƴ ǎƻƛƭ ŀǘ ƭŜǾŜƭǎ ŜȄŎŜŜŘƛƴƎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘ tŀǊǘ нлм Dw// ǿŀǎ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ŀǎ ŀƴ w9/Φ 

¢ƘŜ tƘŀǎŜ LL 9{! ǎŀƳǇƭƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǎƻƛƭΣ ƎǊƻǳƴŘǿŀǘŜǊΣ ŀƴŘ ǎƻƛƭ Ǝŀǎ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜŘΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ 
ŦƛƴŀƭƛȊŜŘΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǊŜǎŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǇŜǘǊƻƭŜǳƳπōŀǎŜŘ ±h/ǎ ŀƴŘ ƳŜǘŀƭǎ ƛƴ ǎƻƛƭ ŀƴŘ ƎǊƻǳƴŘǿŀǘŜǊ ŀōƻǾŜ 9D[9 ŎƭŜŀƴǳǇ ŎǊƛǘŜǊƛŀ 
ŘŜƳƻƴǎǘǊŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŎŜƭǎ ƳŜŜǘ ǘƘŜ ŘŜŦƛƴƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ άŦŀŎƛƭƛǘȅέ ŀǎ ŘŜŦƛƴŜŘ ōȅ tŀǊǘ нлм ƻŦ bw9t!Φ ¢ƘŜ άŦŀŎƛƭƛǘȅέ 
ŘŜǎƛƎƴŀǘƛƻƴ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ .9! ǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ŀ ƴŜǿ ƻǿƴŜǊκƻǇŜǊŀǘƻǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŎŜƭǎ ƛƴ 
ƻǊŘŜǊ ǘƻ ƻōǘŀƛƴ ŀƴ ŜȄŜƳǇǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǊŜƳŜŘƛŀƭ ƭƛŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ǇǊŜπŜȄƛǎǘƛƴƎ ŎƻƴǘŀƳƛƴŀƴǘ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ άŘǳŜ ŎŀǊŜέ 
ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ŀǇǇƭƛŎŀōƭŜ ƎƻƛƴƎ ŦƻǊǿŀǊŘΦ  

aŜŜǘƛƴƎǎ ǊŜƎŀǊŘƛƴƎ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ ǇƭŀƴƴƛƴƎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƻǾŜǊŀƭƭ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘ ǎǘŀǘǳǎ ƘŀǾŜ ƻŎŎǳǊǊŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ WŜǊŜƳƛŀƘ {ƳƛǘƘΣ Ƙƛǎ 
ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ǇŀǊǘƴŜǊǎΣ ǘƘŜ /ƛǘȅ ƻŦ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻΣ CƛǎƘōŜŎƪΣ Y/.w! ǎǘŀŦŦΣ ŀƴŘ 9D[9Φ  9D[9 Ƙŀǎ ǊŜǾƛŜǿŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ 
ŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ŀƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ǌƛǎƪ ƛǎ ǎƳŀƭƭ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŀōƭŜΦ It is Fishbeck’s understanding that final 
purchase dates and considerations between the city and the developer have not been finalized yet. Ongoing 
communications with the city are underway. Regarding preparation of the Brownfield Plan, Fishbeck has prepared 
initial drafts of the TIF tables and it appears that there are more eligible activities than tax increment created. 
Fishbeck also just met with the development team to confirm final estimates on eligible costs. The development 
team is approaching the city of Kalamazoo with a request to establish a Neighborhood Enterprise Zone (NEZ) tax 
abatement for the project. Initial communication from the city has indicated this may not be a right fit for this 
project. The development team has indicated that some form of tax abatement is needed to move this project 
forward and will be discussing further with the city. Fishbeck is waiting on a final decision regarding tax 
abatements before finalizing the TIF tables and the Brownfield Plan document itself. There has been discussion to 
have the Brownfield Plan ready to go to the City BRA and City Commission for consideration in August, ahead of 
the closing of KCBRA’s EPA grant period. It is intended that an Act 381 Work Plan will also be pursued which would 
go to MSHDA for review after the brownfield plan is adopted.  

 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 1 of 10

Activity  Budget Estimates 

Project W.O. Site/Phase Total Invoice No. Invoice Date Total Invoiced Amount

Initial Grant Award 300,000.00$    

Task 1 - Phase I ESAs 45,000.00$     27,742.80$     $    17,257.20 

Task 2 - Phase II ESAs and BEA/DC 204,000.00$    166,847.29$     $    37,152.71 

Task 3 - Brownfield Plans 36,000.00$     66,902.10$     $    (30,902.10)

Task 4 - Community Outrach, Programmatic, Travel 15,000.00$     22,043.67$     $    (7,043.67)

283,535.86$     $    16,464.14  $    16,464.14 

County 4 Personnel 1,200.00$     -$     1,200.00$    

County 4 Travel 6,000.00$     KCBRA Travel 5,072.56$     927.44$    

County 4 Supplies 1,500.00$     -$     1,500.00$    

County 4 Other -$    -$     

County Subtotal 8,700.00$     County Subtotal 5,072.56$     County Subtotal 3,627.44$    

Contractual - Envirologic Technologies, Inc. 291,300.00$    -$    -$    

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 5,000.00$     Invoice Total 08272 11/10/2021 118.50$    

08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$    

08471 1/6/2022 444.75$    

435839 4/10/2024 237.54$    

436942 5/13/2024 59.39$     

438963 6/18/2024 190.40$    

439230 7/9/2024 108.67$    

Project Subtotal 2,600.00$    Project Subtotal 2,600.00$    

Budget Returned 2,400.00$    

-$    

Invoice Breakdown

1 2 Initial Preparation 2,004.00$     

08272 11/10/2021 118.50$    

08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$    

08471 1/6/2022 444.75$    

Phase Subtotal 2,004.00$    Phase Subtotal -$    

210220 1 2 QAPP - ANNUAL UPDATES 596.00$     Invoice Total 435839 4/10/2024 237.54$    

436942 5/13/2024 59.39$     

438963 6/18/2024 190.40$    

Invoice Total 439230 7/9/2024 108.67$    

Project Subtotal 596.00$    Phase Subtotal -$    

210229 2 4 Community Outreach and Programmatic 2,500.00$     Invoice Total 08661 2/18/2022 132.02$    

Amendment #1 (approved 5-25-23) 2,500.00$     08841 4/8/2022 104.56$    

Amendment #2 (approved 11-16-23) 4,300.00$     08977 5/10/2022 359.38$    

Amendment #3 4,000.00$     09127 6/13/2022 341.14$    

Amendment #4 4,800.00$     09389 8/18/2022 209.13$    

18,100.00$     09619 10/12/2022 41.83$     

09745 11/9/2022 352.93$    

09857 12/12/2022 345.06$    

09921 1/5/2023 73.20$     

420295 2/16/2023 189.15$    

421240 3/16/2023 66.05$     

423211 5/10/2023 625.56$    

424176 6/8/2023 334.25$    

425337 7/12/2023 286.50$    

426222 8/7/2023 1,093.13$    

427546 9/7/2023 334.25$    

429749 11/2/2023 1,024.11$    

431429 12/7/2023 209.58$    

432665 1/8/2024 334.25$    

433683 2/13/2024 801.25$    

434691 3/12/2024 382.00$    

435833 4/10/2024 286.50$    

436929 5/13/2024 1,053.23$    

Grant 

Task

Number

Project Complete Total 

 Actual  Project Budget Remaining 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 2 of 10

438957 6/18/2024 320.94$    

439223 7/9/2024 382.00$    

Invoice Total 441202 8/13/2024 1,698.71$    

Invoice Total 442361 9/12/2024 734.83$    

Invoice Total 444752 11/11/2024 1,182.68$    

Invoice Total 447348 1/14/2025 2,087.83$    

Invoice Total 448685 2/14/2025 1,094.28$    

Invoice Total 449917 3/3/2025 490.78$    

Project Subtotal 16,971.11$    Project Subtotal 1,128.89$    

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 17,695.01$     Invoice Total 08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$    X

08842 4/8/2022 3,021.18$    

08978 5/10/2022 156.15$    

09513 9/16/2022 1,016.80$    

Project Subtotal 15,018.03$    Project Subtotal 2,676.98$    

Budget Returned 2,676.98$    

Budget Remaining -$    

Invoice Breakdown

2 Phase II 12,895.00$     08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$    

08842 4/8/2022 1,489.25$    

Phase Subtotal 12,313.15$    Phase Subtotal 581.85$    

2 BEA & Due Care 4,000.00$     08842 4/8/2022 1,531.93$    

08978 5/10/2022 156.15$    

09513 9/16/2022 216.80$    

Phase Subtotal 1,904.88$    Phase Subtotal 2,095.12$    

1 Phase I ESA Update 800.00$     09513 9/16/2022 800.00$    

Phase Subtotal 800.00$    Phase Subtotal -$    

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 52,850.00$     Invoice Total 09243 7/12/2022 614.29$    X

09296 8/4/2022 12,499.46$    

09409 9/7/2022 2,778.21$    

09636 10/21/2022 4,152.64$    

09663 11/3/2022 875.04$    

09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$    

09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$    

421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$    

Project Subtotal 52,404.00$    Project Subtotal 446.00$    

Budget Returned 446.00$    

Invoice Breakdown -$    

2 Soil Gas (447 W. North Street) & Vapor Pin (441 W. North St.) 11,000.00$     

09243 7/12/2022 324.13$    

09296 8/4/2022 5,677.51$    

09409 9/7/2022 151.63$    

09636 10/21/2022 3,480.86$    

09663 11/3/2022 216.34$    

Phase Subtotal 9,850.47$    Phase Subtotal 1,149.53$    

2 604 N. Westnedge (Phase II, UST Site Assessment) 29,350.00$     

Amendment #1 7,000.00$     09243 7/12/2022 290.16$    

Amendment #2 5,500.00$     09296 8/4/2022 6,821.95$    

41,850.00$     09409 9/7/2022 2,626.58$    

09636 10/21/2022 671.78$    

09663 11/3/2022 658.70$    

09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$    

09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$    

421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$    

Phase Subtotal 42,553.53$    Phase Subtotal (703.53)$    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 3 of 10

220129 4 1,2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 25,000.00$     Invoice Total 09245 7/12/2022 2,597.81$    X

09295 8/4/2022 11,669.06$    

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$    

09637 10/21/2022 460.06$    

429755 11/2/2023 71.63$     

Project Subtotal 16,758.16$    Project Subtotal 8,241.84$    

Budget Returned 8,241.84$    

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$    

1 Eligibility and Phase I ESAs 6,000.00$     

09245 7/12/2022 2,443.58$    

09295 8/4/2022 2,358.48$    

09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$    

09637 10/21/2022 248.33$    

Phase Subtotal 7,009.99$    Phase Subtotal (1,009.99)$    

2 GPR Surveys 19,000.00$     

09245 7/12/2022 154.23$    

09295 8/4/2022 9,310.58$    

09637 10/21/2022 211.73$    

429755 11/2/2023 71.63$     

Phase Subtotal 9,748.17$    Phase Subtotal 9,251.83$    

220154 6 3 Parchment Mill Site 20,000.00$     Invoice Total 09391 8/22/2022 4,442.58$    X

Amendment #1 2,000.00$     09515 9/16/2022 3,183.01$    

22,000.00$     09629 10/17/2022 1,806.40$    

09673 11/4/2022 2,343.59$    

09860 12/12/2022 3,865.38$    

09922 1/5/2023 400.46$    

420293 2/16/2023 115.95$    

421241 3/16/2023 573.53$   

422260 4/13/2023 945.75$    

423212 5/10/2023 1,214.35$    

426223 8/7/2023 3,109.00$    

Project Subtotal 22,000.00$    Project Subtotal -$    

230922 7 2,3 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 8,000.00$     X

424169 6/8/2023 548.40$    

Project Subtotal 548.40$    Project Subtotal 7,451.60$    

Budget Returned 7,451.60$    

Budget Remaining -$    

Invoice Breakdown

2 Eligibilty and Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$     424169 6/8/2023 548.40$    

Phase Subtotal 548.40$    Phase Subtotal 4,451.60$    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$     

Phase Subtotal -$    Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 4 of 10

230924 8 1,2,3 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 30,000.00$     Invoice Total 424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$    X

426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$    

426220 8/7/2023 597.55$    

427544 9/7/2023 818.33$    

429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$    

429757 11/2/2023 10,523.93$    

431498 12/12/2023 1,064.25$    

432687 1/9/2024 7,673.31$    

Project Subtotal 26,000.00$    Project Subtotal 4,000.00$    

Budget Returned 4,000.00$    

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$    

1 Eligibilty and Phase I 4,000.00$     424166 6/8/2023 1,696.79$    

426125 7/19/2023 2,303.21$    

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$    Phase Subtotal -$    

2 Phase II 18,000.00$     426220 8/7/2023 597.55$    

Budget Adjustment (approved 1-18-2024) 4,000.00$     427544 9/7/2023 818.33$    

22,000.00$     429028 10/9/2023 1,322.63$    

429757 11/2/2023 10,523.93$    

431498 12/12/2023 1,064.25$    

432687 1/9/2024 7,673.31$    

Phase Subtotal 22,000.00$    Phase Subtotal -$    

2 Bea/Due Care 4,000.00$     

Phase Subtotal -$    Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$    

3 Brownfield Plan 4,000.00$     

Budget Adjustment to support expanded scope of PII (1-18-24) (4,000.00)$    

-$    Phase Subtotal -$    Phase Subtotal -$    

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 15,000.00$     Invoice Total 424168 6/8/2023 730.55$    X

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$    

426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$     

427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$     

429203 10/10/2023 546.65$     

430075 11/6/2023 1,487.00$     

431026 12/4/2023 549.45$     

Project Subtotal 6,140.85$    Project Subtotal 1,859.15$    

Budget Returned 1,859.15$    

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 8,000.00$     424168 6/8/2023 730.55$    

425256 7/10/2023 731.87$    

426224 8/7/2023 1,036.37$    

427444 9/7/2023 1,058.96$    

429203 10/9/2023 546.65$    

430075 11/6/2023 1,487.00$     

431026 12/4/2023 549.45$    

Phase Subtotal 6,140.85$    Phase Subtotal -$    

3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 7,000.00$     

Phase Subtotal -$    Phase Subtotal 7,000.00$    

Phase Budget Returned 7,000.00$    

Phase Budget Remaining -$    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 5 of 10

230923 10,14 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 12,500.00$     Invoice Total 424164 6/8/2023 480.25$    X

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$    

426219 8/7/2023 862.34$    

427542 9/7/2023 488.16$    

429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$    

429753 11/2/2023 375.49$    

431433 12/7/2023 71.63$     

Project Subtotal 6,537.20$    Project Subtotal 2,819.33$    

Budget Returned 2,819.33$    

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$    

10 3 Project Planning Associated with Plan Amendment 6,500.00$     424164 6/8/2023 480.25$    

426124 7/19/2023 1,525.78$    

426219 8/7/2023 862.34$    

427542 9/7/2023 488.16$    

Phase Subtotal 3,356.53$    Phase Subtotal 3,143.47$    

Phase Budget Returned 3,143.47$    

` Phase Budget Remaining -$    

Invoice Breakdown

14 3 Brownfield Plan Amendment 6,000.00$     429024 10/9/2023 2,733.55$    

429753 11/2/2023 375.49$    

431433 12/7/2023 71.63$     

Phase Subtotal 3,180.67$    Phase Subtotal 2,819.33$    

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment 23,250.00$     Invoice Total 428218 9/18/2023 1,230.54$    X

429320 10/12/2023 4,757.52$    

429752 11/2/2023 2,693.54$    

431432 12/7/2023 2,903.27$    

432668 1/8/2024 1,857.40$    

433688 2/13/2024 601.14$    

434695 3/12/2024 60.89$     

435835 4/10/2024 30.39$     

436933 5/13/2024 30.39$     

Project Subtotal 14,165.08$    Project Subtotal 219.61$    

Budget Returned 219.61$    

Budget Remaining -$    

Invoice Breakdown

3 Eligibility / HASP/ SAP/ Project Management 3,000.00$     428218 9/18/2023 882.23$    

Phase Subtotal 882.23$    Phase Subtotal 2,117.77$    

Phase Budget Returned* 2,117.77$    

Phase Bdget Remaining -$    

3 PFE Testing 5,250.00$     428218 9/18/2023 348.31$    

429320 10/12/2023 4,150.34$    

429752 11/2/2023 122.11$    

432668 1/8/2024 518.94$    

Phase Subtotal 5,139.70$    Phase Subtotal 110.30$    

Phase Budget Returned* 110.30$    

Phase Bdget Remaining -$    

3 VMS Design 15,000.00$     429320 10/12/2023 607.18$    

429752 11/2/2023 2,571.43$    

431432 12/7/2023 2,903.27$    

432668 1/8/2024 1,338.46$    

433688 2/13/2024 601.14$    

434695 3/12/2024 60.89$     

435835 4/10/2024 30.39$     

436933 5/13/2024 30.39$     

Phase Subtotal 8,143.15$    Phase Subtotal 6,856.85$    

Phase Budget Returned* 6,637.24$    

Phase Budget Returned* 219.61$    

Phase Bdget Remaining (0.00)$    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 6 of 10

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 11,200.00$              Invoice Total 427548 9/7/2023 4,887.17$                          X

429026 10/9/2023 1,200.18$                          

429756 11/2/2023 69.55$                               

431435 12/7/2023 191.00$                             

434698 3/12/2024 498.53$                             

435838 4/10/2024 112.80$                             

436940 5/13/2024 91.16$                               

438962 6/18/2024 101.98$                             

Invoice Total 441205 8/13/2024 60.77$                               

Project Subtotal 7,213.14$                          Project Subtotal 1,943.76$           

Budget Returned 1,943.76$           

Budget Remaining -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility Update & Phase I ESA 3,200.00$                427548 9/7/2023 2,752.09$                          

429026 10/9/2023 447.91$                             

Phase Subtotal 3,200.00$                          Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 ASB -  Asbestos Survey 5,000.00$                427548 9/7/2023 2,135.08$                          

429026 10/9/2023 752.27$                             

429756 11/2/2023 69.55$                               

Phase Subtotal   2,956.90$                          Phase Subtotal 2,043.10$           

Phase Budget Returned* 2,043.10$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

3 BP Eval - Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$                

431435 12/7/2023 191.00$                             

434698 3/12/2024 498.53$                             

435838 4/10/2024 112.80$                             

436940 5/13/2024 91.16$                               

438962 6/18/2024 101.98$                             

441205 8/13/2024 60.77$                               

Phase Subtotal 1,056.24$                          Phase Subtotal 1,943.76$           

Phase Budget Returned* 1,943.76$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    

231419 12 3 Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 22,500.00$              Invoice Total 427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                             X

429030 10/9/2023 479.03$                             

429759 11/2/2023 4,648.57$                          

431439 12/7/2023 4,002.89$                          

432673 1/8/2024 641.52$                             

433695 2/13/2024 61.05$                               

434705 3/12/2024 242.83$                             

435841 4/10/2024 552.35$                             

436950 5/13/2024 273.21$                             

438966 6/18/2024 101.97$                             

442376 9/12/2024 764.79$                             

Project Subtotal 12,568.11$                        Project Subtotal 31.57$                

Budget Returned 31.57$                

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$                    

3 Response Activity Plan/Conceptual Site Model 17,500.00$              427545 9/7/2023 799.90$                             

429030 10/9/2023 143.25$                             

429759 11/2/2023 4,529.19$                          

431439 12/7/2023 1,577.81$                          

432673 1/8/2024 276.04$                             

433695 2/13/2024 61.05$                               

434705 3/12/2024 212.44$                             

Phase Subtotal 7,599.68$                          Phase Subtotal 9,900.32$           

Phase Budget Returned* 9,900.32$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 7 of 10

429030 10/9/2023 335.78$    

429759 11/2/2023 119.38$    

431439 12/7/2023 2,425.08$    

432673 1/8/2024 365.48$    

434705 3/12/2024 30.39$     

435841 4/10/2024 552.35$    

436950 5/13/2024 273.21$    

438966 6/18/2024 101.97$    

442376 9/12/2024 764.79$    

3 Brownfield Cleanup Planning 5,000.00$     Phase Subtotal 4,968.43$    Phase Subtotal 31.57$    

Budget Returned 31.57$    

Budget Remaining -$    

231768 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 16,200.00$     Invoice Total 429758 11/2/2023 337.40$    X

431438 12/7/2023 1,551.79$    

432672 1/8/2024 1,072.13$    

433694 2/13/2024 154.89$    

434704 3/12/2024 493.89$    

435840 4/10/2024 255.96$    

436949 5/13/2024 1,402.35$    

Project Subtotal 5,268.41$    Project Subtotal 6,847.80$    

Budget Returned 6,000.00$    

Budget Returned 847.80$    

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$    

2 Eligibility/HASP/SAP/HMI 7,200.00$     

429758 11/2/2023 337.40$    

431438 12/7/2023 1,551.79$    

432672 1/8/2024 1,072.13$    

433694 2/13/2024 154.89$    

Phase Subtotal 3,116.21$    Phase Subtotal 4,083.79$    

Phase Budget Returned* 4,083.79$    

Phase Bdget Remaining -$    

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$     434704 3/12/2024 493.89$    

435840 4/10/2024 255.96$    

436949 5/13/2024 1,402.35$    

Phase Subtotal 2,152.20$    Phase Subtotal 847.80$    

Phase Budget Returned* 847.80$    

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$     Phase Bdget Remaining -$    

Phase Subtotal -$    Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$    

Budget Returned 6,000.00$    

Budget Remaining -$    

231766 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 44,000.00$     Invoice Total 429751 11/2/2023 709.55$    X

431431 12/7/2023 14,104.00$    

432667 1/8/2024 9,832.64$    

433687 2/13/2024 576.99$    

Project Subtotal 25,223.18$    Project Subtotal 18,776.82$     

Budget Returned 18,776.82$     

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$    

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 4,000.00$     

429751 11/2/2023 661.80$    

431431 12/7/2023 2,540.41$    

432667 1/8/2024 797.79$    

Phase Subtotal 4,000.00$    Phase Subtotal -$    

2 Phase II ESA/HASP/SAP 18,500.00$     431431 12/7/2023 8,117.24$    

432667 1/8/2024 7,970.09$    

433687 2/13/2024 576.99$    

Phase Subtotal 16,664.32$    Phase Subtotal 1,835.68$    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 8 of 10

2 Hazardous Materials Inspection 7,000.00$                

429751 11/2/2023 47.75$                               

431431 12/7/2023 3,446.35$                          

432667 1/8/2024 1,064.76$                          

Phase Subtotal 4,558.86$                          Phase Subtotal 2,441.14$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,500.00$                

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 5,500.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan Evaluation 3,000.00$                

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$           

3 Brownfield Plan Preparation 6,000.00$                

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 6,000.00$           

240812 17 1, 2 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 25,015.00$              Invoice Total 436934 5/13/2024 307.97$                             X

Invoice Total 438959 6/18/2024 2,692.03$                          

Invoice Total 441204 8/13/2024 376.98$                             

Invoice Total 442365 9/12/2024 1,950.31$                          

Invoice Total 443453 10/9/2024 11,952.55$                        

Invoice Total 444699 11/7/2024 1,233.43$                          

Project Subtotal 18,513.27$                        Project Subtotal 6,501.73$           

Budget Returned 5,000.00$           

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining 1,501.73$           

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$                436934 5/13/2024 307.97$                             Budget Returned 1,501.73$           

438959 6/18/2024 2,692.03$                          Budget Remaining -$                    

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$                          Phase Subtotal -$                    

 

2 HMI 4,765.00$                

442365 9/12/2024 450.63$                             

443453 10/9/2024 3,794.09$                          

444699 11/7/2024 108.15$                             

Phase Subtotal 4,352.87$                          Phase Subtotal 412.13$              

.

2 Phase II 12,250.00$              441204 8/13/2024 376.98$                             

442365 9/12/2024 1,499.68$                          

443453 10/9/2024 8,158.46$                          

444699 11/7/2024 1,125.28$                          

Phase Subtotal 11,160.40$                        Phase Subtotal 1,089.60$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$                

  

Phase Subtotal -$                                  Phase Subtotal 5,000.00$           

Phase Budget Returned* 5,000.00$           

Phase Bdget Remaining -$                    



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 9 of 10

241171 18 1 J. Smith Laundry and Apts -802 N. Westnedge Avenue, 438 & 3,000.00$                

442 W. Frank Street Invoice Total 442368 9/12/2024 2,502.61$                          

Amendment #1 31,495.00$              Invoice Total 443454 10/9/2024 1,931.77$                          

34,495.00$              Invoice Total 444702 11/7/2024 3,871.19$                          

Invoice Total 445837 12/4/2024 5,465.73$                          

Invoice Total 447355 1/14/2025 1,027.43$                          

Invoice Total 448689 2/14/2025 5,916.87$                          

Invoice Total 449928 3/3/2025 330.47$                             

Invoice Total 451035* 5/14/2025 793.29$                            

Project Subtotal 21,839.36$                        Project Subtotal 12,655.64$          

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$                442368 9/12/2024 1,763.58$                          

443454 10/9/2024 621.09$                             

444702 11/7/2024 348.14$                             

Phase Subtotal 2,732.81$                          Phase Subtotal 267.19$              

2 Phase II 18,495.00$              442368 9/12/2024 436.72$                             

443454 10/9/2024 894.56$                             

444702 11/7/2024 3,427.77$                          

445837 12/4/2024 4,744.28$                          

447355 1/14/2025 834.30$                             

448689 2/14/2025 5,832.00$                          

Phase Subtotal 16,169.63$                        Phase Subtotal 2,325.37$           

2 BEA/Due Care 5,000.00$                442368 9/12/2024 82.40$                               

445837 12/4/2024 530.90$                             

447355 1/14/2025 41.20$                               

Phase Subtotal 654.50$                             Phase Subtotal 4,345.50$           

3 Brownfield Plan 8,000.00$                

442368 9/12/2024 219.91$                             

443454 10/9/2024 416.12$                             

444702 11/7/2024 95.28$                               

445837 12/4/2024 190.55$                             

447355 1/14/2025 151.93$                             

448689 2/14/2025 84.87$                               

449928 3/3/2025 330.47$                             

451035 5/14/2025 793.29$                             

Phase Subtotal 2,282.42$                          Phase Subtotal 5,717.58$           



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

5/22/2025 

Page 10 of 10

241434 19 1 234/238 EM, LLC - 234 and 238 E. Michigan Ave, Kalamazoo 3,000.00$                

Amendment #1 5,695.00$                Invoice Total 444701 11/7/2024 6,696.61$                          

8,695.00$                Invoice Total 445835 12/4/2024 1,998.39$                          

-$                                  

Project Subtotal 8,695.00$                          Project Subtotal -$                    

Invoice Breakdown

1 Eligibility/Phase I ESA 3,000.00$                

444701 11/7/2024 3,000.00$                          

Phase Subtotal 3,000.00$                          Phase Subtotal -$                    

2 Hazardous Materials Inspection 5,695.00$                

444701 11/7/2024 3,696.61$                          

445835 12/4/2024 1,998.39$                          

Phase Subtotal 5,695.00$                          Phase Subtotal -$                    

Approved Project Budgets Subtotal 391,500.01$            Invoice Total 278,463.30$                      Budgets Remaining 13,784.53$          

Estimated Contractual Budget Remaining (100,200.01)$           12,836.70$                        

Check 291,300.00$        

Project Budgets Returned 

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 2,676.98$                

230922 7 2 Watershed LLC - 6667 Stadum Drive, Oshtemo Township 7,451.60$                

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 2,400.00$                

230923 10 3 Midlink Business Park Expansion 5,962.80$                

230914 9 3 555 Eliza Street Schoolcraft Expansion 8,859.15$                

231417 13 3 YWCA, 550 S. Riverview Drive City of Parchment* 9,084.92$                

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 446.00$                   

231418 11 1,2,3 Redman Ventures, LLC 3,986.86$                

231419 12 3 Legacy Senior Living, 730 N. Burdick St. Kalamazoo 9,931.89$                

231768 15 2,3 Urban Exposure Initiative, 1116 Lake Street, Kalamazoo 10,931.59$              

231766 16 1, 2,3 702 W. Michigan Avenue, Kalamazoo 18,776.82$              

220129 4 2 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 8,241.84$                

230924 8 2 Comstock Charter Township, Comstock Center Redevelopment 4,000.00$                

240812 17 2 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 5,000.00$                

240812 17 2 Teresa's Kitchen, 1216, 1222, and 1228 S. Burdick, Kalamazoo 1,501.73$                

Available Contractual Budget Remaining (947.83)$                 

Notes:

*Pending

No Invoices for consideration in April 2025

 Actual Contractual Budget Remaining 

and un-invoiced 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
Macy Walters
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI  49008

May 14, 2025
Project No: 2500252.00
Invoice No: 000000451038

Project 2500252.00 KCBRA/Habitat for Humanity Cooper Twp
W.O. 2025-2
For Professional Services through April 25, 2025
Phase I ESA
Due Diligence
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist 1.50 134.00 201.00

Totals 1.50 201.00
Total Labor 201.00

201.00Total this Task

Support Services
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Administrative Assistant 1.25 91.00 113.75

Totals 1.25 113.75
Total Labor 113.75

113.75Total this Task

314.75Total this Phase

Billings to Date
Current Prior Total

Fee 0.00 2,441.00 2,441.00
Labor 314.75 0.00 314.75
Totals 314.75 2,441.00 2,755.75

GPR Survey
Due Diligence
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist 4.75 134.00 636.50
Senior Hydrogeologist .50 150.00 75.00

Totals 5.25 711.50
Total Labor 711.50

711.50Total this Task

Item 7 b iii 



Geoscience
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Seasonal Technician 1.00 106.00 106.00

Totals 1.00 106.00
Total Labor 106.00

Unit Billing
Mileage - Company Vehicle

3/6/2025 25.0 Miles @ 0.95 23.75
Total Units 1.0 times 23.75 23.75

129.75Total this Task

Support Services
Labor

Hours Rate Amount
Administrative Assistant .50 91.00 45.50

Totals .50 45.50
Total Labor 45.50

45.50Total this Task

Outside Services
Consultants

Subconsultant
3/24/2025 Facility Management 

Consultants Intl
Outside Services - GPR 
Survey

1,160.00

Total Consultants 1.1 times 1,160.00 1,276.00

1,276.00Total this Task

2,162.75Total this Phase
Billings to Date

Current Prior Total
Fee 0.00 167.50 167.50
Labor 863.00 0.00 863.00
Consultant 1,276.00 0.00 1,276.00
Unit 23.75 0.00 23.75
Totals 2,162.75 167.50 2,330.25

Billing Limits Current Prior To-Date
Total Billings 2,477.50 2,608.50 5,086.00

Limit 5,100.00
Remaining 14.00

2,477.50Total this Invoice
Billings to Date

Current Prior Total
Fee 0.00 2,608.50 2,608.50
Labor 1,177.75 0.00 1,177.75
Consultant 1,276.00 0.00 1,276.00

Page 2

Unit 23.75 0.00 23.75
Totals 2,477.50 2,608.50 5,086.00

mrwalt
Highlight



aŜƳƻ
TO: YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ wŜŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ

FROM: [ƻƎŀƴ aǳƭƘƻƭƭŀƴŘ

DATE: aŀȅ мрΣ нлнр PROJECT NO.: нолпрп

RE: wŜǾƛŜǿ ƻŦ wŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ wŜǉǳŜǎǘ ІнΣ Lt¦{! tŀǾƛƭƛƻƴ мΣ [[/ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ

CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ ǿŀǎ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘ Ін ǇŜǊǘŀƛƴƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ Lt¦{! tŀǾƛƭƛƻƴ мΣ [[/ 
.ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ŀǘ ртнп 9ŀǎǘ b !ǾŜƴǳŜΣ tŀǾƛƭƛƻƴ ¢ƻǿƴǎƘƛǇΦ 

¢ƘŜ Lt¦{! tŀǾƛƭƛƻƴ мΣ [[/ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ ŀƴǘƛŎƛǇŀǘŜŘ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ǘŀȄ ƛƴŎǊŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜǎ ŀǎ ŜŀǊƭȅ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ нлнп ǘŀȄŜǎ 
ŀƴŘ ŀƭƭƻǿǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎŀǇǘǳǊŜ ƻŦ ǳǇ ǘƻ ϷммΣфумΣофрΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ƭƛƳƛǘŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ 
!ƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘΣ ŘŀǘŜŘ !ǳƎǳǎǘ мрΣ нлннΣ ǘƻ ϷммΣпфлΣнрл ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊΩǎ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ ŎƻǎǘǎΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ŜȄǇŜƴǎŜΦ 

Lǘ ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ƻŦ ƴƻǘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ǎǳōƧŜŎǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ ǿŀǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ YŀƭŀƳŀȊƻƻ /ƻǳƴǘȅ 
[ŀƴŘ .ŀƴƪ !ǳǘƘƻǊƛǘȅ όY/[.!ύ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ ǿŀǎ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘΣ ŀǎ ŜǾƛŘŜƴŎŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ 
!ƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ Y/[.! ŀƴŘ Lt¦{! tŀǾƛƭƛƻƴ мΣ [[/Σ ǎƛƎƴŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ Y/[.! ƻƴ !ǳƎǳǎǘ мсΣ нлннΦ .ŜŎŀǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ 
ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ǿŀǎ ƻǿƴŜŘ ƻǊ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Y/[.! ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ ǿŀǎ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘΣ 
ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƴƻƴπŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘŀƭ Ŏƻǎǘǎ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜŘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ {ƛǘŜ tǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ 
ŀƴŘ LƴŦǊŀǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜ LƳǇǊƻǾŜƳŜƴǘǎΦ 

¢ƘŜ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎƭȅ ǎǳōƳƛǘǘŜŘ ŀ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘΣ ƻŦ ǿƘƛŎƘ ϷнΣорлΣфнмΦнс ǿŀǎ ǊŜŎƻƳƳŜƴŘŜŘ ŦƻǊ 
ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀƭΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘ ǿŀǎ ǎǳōƳƛǘǘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ϷнΣлсуΣсноΦфлΦ ¢Ƙƛǎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘ ƛǎ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƛƳƛǘǎ 
ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴΦ !ƭƭ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ǿŜǊŜ ƛƴŎǳǊǊŜŘ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŀŘƻǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴΦ CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ ŦƛƴŘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŀƭƭ 
ǘƘŜ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘŜŘ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ŦƻǊ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ Ŏƻǎǘǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ ŀƴŘ ŀǊŜ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜǎ 
ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦƛŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇƭŀƴΣ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ŜȄŎŜǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀƭǘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΥ

• LƴǾƻƛŎŜ мнуΣ IϧY 9ȄŎŀǾŀǘƛƴƎΥ ¢ƘŜ Ϸорл ǎŀǿ ŎǳǘǘƛƴƎ ƭƛƴŜ ƛǘŜƳ ǿŀǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭƭȅ ƴƻǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘΤ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ŀŦǘŜǊ
ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ŎƻƴǎǳƭǘŀƴǘΣ ǘƘŜ ǎŀǿ ŎǳǘǘƛƴƎ ƭƛƴŜ ƛǘŜƳ ǿŀǎ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ
ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƳƻǾŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǇƘŀƭǘ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ŀŘŘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘΦ

• aŀƧƻǊƛǘȅ .ǳƛƭŘŜǊǎ κ IϧY 9ȄŎŀǾŀǘƛƴƎ !L! ІтΥ ¢ƘŜ ϷсфΣмлл ǎǘƻƴŜ ŘǊƛǾŜ ŀƭƭƻǿŀƴŎŜ ǿŀǎ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ
ǘƻ ŀ ǇŜǊƳŀƴŜƴǘ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ǊƻŀŘ ŀƴŘ ƴƻǘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǊƛƎƘǘπƻŦπǿŀȅΦ !ǎ ǎǳŎƘΣ ǘƘŜ ϷсфΣмлл ƭƛƴŜ ƛǘŜƳ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǊŜƳƻǾŜŘ
ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘΦ

• aŀƧƻǊƛǘȅ .ǳƛƭŘŜǊǎ κ wƛŜǘƘπwƛƭŜȅ /ƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ /ƻΦ !L! ІпΥ ¢ƘŜ ϷмрΣллл ƎǊŀŘƛƴƎ ƭƛƴŜ ƛǘŜƳ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭƭȅ
ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘΤ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ƛǘ ƛǎ ŀƴ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ ǎƛǘŜ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ŀŘŘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ
ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘΦ

• aŀƧƻǊƛǘȅ .ǳƛƭŘŜǊǎΣ LƴŎΦΣ ǘƘŜ ƻǊƛƎƛƴŀƭ ǎǳōƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ ǘƻǘŀƭŜŘ ϷннмΣсоуΦну ƻŦ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ όр҈ύ ŀƴŘ ƻǾŜǊƘŜŀŘ
ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ όт҈ύ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǘŀƭ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜŘ ōȅ aŀƧƻǊƛǘȅ
.ǳƛƭŘŜǊǎΣ LƴŎΦ !ŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǊŜǾƛǎƛƻƴǎ ƴƻǘŜŘ ŀōƻǾŜΣ ǘƘŜ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ƻǾŜǊƘŜŀŘ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ
ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ǊŜǾƛǎŜŘΣ ŀǎ ŦƻƭƭƻǿǎΥ

ϷроΣтрл wŜƳƻǾŜŘ ŦǊƻƳ wŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ϝ όр҈ Ҍ т҈ύ Ґ ϷсΣпрл ǊŜŘǳŎǘƛƻƴΦ

Item 7 c 1



aŜƳƻ ς wŜǾƛŜǿ ƻŦ wŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ wŜǉǳŜǎǘ ІнΣ Lt¦{! tŀǾƛƭƛƻƴ мΣ [[/ .ǊƻǿƴŦƛŜƭŘ tƭŀƴ
aŀȅ мрΣ нлнр CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ μ tŀƎŜ н

ξξ/hwtΦC¢/IΦ/haξ![[twhW9/¢{ξ9b±Lwh[hDL/ξtwhW9/¢{ξtwhW9/¢{ψYξY![!a!½hh /h¦b¢¸ξ.wh²bCL9[5 w959±9[hta9b¢ !¦¢IhwL¢¸ξLt¦{! t!±L[[Lhb ¢²t .C t[!bξw9La.¦w{9a9b¢ 
w9v¦9{¢ξw9v¦9{¢ нξa9ψY/.w!ψw9La.¦w{9a9b¢ w9v¦9{¢ w9±L9² нψLt¦{! t!±L[LhbψнлнрψлрмрΦ5h/·

CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ ŦƛƴŘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƛƴǾƻƛŎŜǎ ǿƛǘƘ ŘŀǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ 
ǘƘŜ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ ƭƛŜƴ ǿŀƛǾŜǊǎ ƻǊ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŦƻǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǇǊƻƻŦ ƻŦ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘΦ ²ƘƛƭŜ ƭƛŜƴ ǿŀƛǾŜǊǎ ŀǊŜ ŦŀǾƻǊŜŘΣ ǘƘŜ ƻǘƘŜǊ 
ŦƻǊƳǎ ƻŦ ŘŜƳƻƴǎǘǊŀǘƛƴƎ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘǎΣ ŘŜŜƳŜŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ǎŀǘƛǎŦŀŎǘƻǊȅ ǇǊƻƻŦ ƻŦ ǇŀȅƳŜƴǘΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ ŎŜǊǘƛŦƛŜŘ !L! ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎ 
ŀƴŘ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ ŎƘŜŎƪ ƴǳƳōŜǊǎΦ 

.ŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ƻǳǊ ǊŜǾƛŜǿΣ CƛǎƘōŜŎƪ ŦƛƴŘǎ ŀ ǘƻǘŀƭ ƻŦ ϷнΣллуΣпноΦфл ǘƻ ōŜ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜ ŦƻǊ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘΦ ²Ŝ ōŜƭƛŜǾŜ ǘƘŜ 
ŀōǎŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ƭƛŜƴ ǿŀƛǾŜǊǎ ŦǊƻƳ ŎŜǊǘŀƛƴ ŎƻƴǘǊŀŎǘƻǊǎ ƛǎ ŀŘŜǉǳŀǘŜƭȅ ŎƻƳǇŜƴǎŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ 
ǊŜŎƻƳƳŜƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ .w! {ǘŀŦŦ ŀŘǾƛǎŜ ǘƘŜ .w! .ƻŀǊŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘ ƛǎ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŀōƭŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ 
ŜȄŎŜǇǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ŀƭǘŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴŜŘ ŀōƻǾŜΦ 

! ǎǇǊŜŀŘǎƘŜŜǘ ŘŜǘŀƛƭƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘΣ ƛƴŎƭǳǎƛǾŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƘŀƴƎŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴŜŘ ŀōƻǾŜΣ ƛǎ 
ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ŀǎ !ǘǘŀŎƘƳŜƴǘ мΦ ¢ƘŜ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǳǇŘŀǘŜŘ ōŀŎƪǳǇ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ 
ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .w! {ǘŀŦŦ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭΦ 

¢ƘŜ 5ŜǾŜƭƻǇŜǊ Ƙŀǎ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ŀƴ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǊŜƛƳōǳǊǎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜǉǳŜǎǘ ƛǎ ŦƻǊǘƘŎƻƳƛƴƎ ŀǎ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ǘǿƻ ƳƻǊŜ 
ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎ ŎƻƴǘŜƳǇƭŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǎƛǘŜ ǘƘŀǘ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǘ ȅŜǘ ǳƴŘŜǊ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴΦ LŦ ȅƻǳ ƘŀǾŜ ŀƴȅ ǉǳŜǎǘƛƻƴǎ ƻǊ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜ 
ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴΣ ǇƭŜŀǎŜ ŎƻƴǘŀŎǘ ƳŜ ŀǘ нсфΦрппΦсфсс ƻǊ ƭƳǳƭƘƻƭƭŀƴŘϪŦƛǎƘōŜŎƪΦŎƻƳΦ

!ǘǘŀŎƘƳŜƴǘ
.ȅ ŜƳŀƛƭ

mailto:lmulholland@fishbeck.com


Appendix 1 
 

 
 

  



IPUSA Pavilion 1, LLC

5724 E. N Avenue

DATE OF BROWNFIELD PLAN: 8/16/2022

LLM

7/26/2024, 5/13/2025

CONTINGENCY: 15 % (not to exceed 15%)

1.00 Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) - Statutorily Approved

1.01 Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments $0.00 $0.00 1.01 6/7/2021 2,300.00$                           7710 Envirologic Phase I ESA X Check #1257 Reimbursement Request #1

1.02 Baseline Environmental Assessment $5,000.00 $5,000.00

1.03 Asbestos, Lead and Mold Surveys $0.00 $0.00

1.04 Pre-Demolition Survey $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $5,000.00 $5,000.00

$5,000.00 $5,000.00 2,300.00$                           

5.00 Public Infrastructure Improvements

5.01 $5,100,000.00 $5,100,000.00 5.01 5/20/2024 194,500.00$                      AIA #5 Majority Builders (H&K) CO #4, N Ave Rd widening X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

5.02 $0.00 $0.00 5.01 5/20/2024 207,568.75$                      AIA #2, 3

Rieth-Riley Construction Co., 

Inc. N Avenue Widening
X

Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

5.03 $0.00 $0.00 5.01 6/20/2024 97,326.00$                        AIA#3

Rieth-Riley Construction Co., 

Inc. Shoulder Gravel
X

Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

5.04 $0.00 $0.00

5.05 $0.00 $0.00

5.06 $0.00 $0.00 5.07 11/27/2023 185,718.00$                      AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Storm Sewer X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

5.07 $0.00 $0.00 5.07 11/27/2023 25,430.00$                        CO #5 Thornapple Exc Inc Storm Sewer and Dewatering X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

5.08 $400,000.00 $400,000.00 5.08 11/27/2023 372,000.00$                      AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Watermain X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

5.09 $0.00 $0.00

5.10 $0.00 $0.00

5.11 $0.00 $0.00

5.12 $0.00 $0.00

5.13 $0.00 $0.00

5.14 $0.00 $0.00

5.15 $0.00 $0.00

5.16 $0.00 $0.00

5.17 $0.00 $0.00

5.18 $0.00 $0.00

5.19 $0.00 $0.00

5.21 $0.00 $0.00 5.21 4/22/2024 69,977.76$                        2022-109 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver and POP for $190,777.50 Reimbursement Request #1

Sub-Total $5,500,000.00 $5,500,000.00 5.21 11/29/2024 59,927.37$                        2023-161 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver

15% $75,000.00 $75,000.00

$5,575,000.00 $5,575,000.00 1,212,447.88$                   

Category Total

Total

7.00 Building Demolition

7.01 Pre-Demolition Audit or Survey $0.00 $0.00

7.02 Building Demolition/Deconstruction $48,000.00 $48,000.00 7.02 11/27/2023 58,000.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Barns/Site/Tree demo X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

7.03 Foundation and basement removals $0.00 $0.00

7.04 Dewatering during foundation and basement removals $0.00 $0.00

7.05 Sheeting/Shoring $0.00 $0.00

7.06 Backfill $0.00 $0.00

7.07 Compaction $0.00 $0.00

7.08 Rough Grading $0.00 $0.00

7.09 Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional) $0.00 $0.00 7.09 4/22/2024 6,960.00$                           2022-109 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver and POP for $190,777.50 Reimbursement Request #1

Sub-Total $48,000.00 $48,000.00

15% $7,200.00 $7,200.00

$55,200.00 $55,200.00 64,960.00$                        

8.00 Site Demolition

8.01 Removal of abandoned utilities $0.00 $0.00

8.02 Underground storage tank removal $0.00 $0.00

8.03 Parking lot removal $0.00 $0.00 8.03 2/27/2024 3,240.00$                           128 H&K Excavating Asphalt Removal X Account Report

8.04 Road removal $0.00 $0.00

8.05 Curbs, gutter removal $0.00 $0.00

8.06 Rail spurs removal $0.00 $0.00

8.07 Sidewalks, bike paths removal $0.00 $0.00

8.08 Other Site Demolition (Describe) $2,000.00 $2,000.00 8.08 11/27/2023 1,000.00$                           AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Demolition X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

8.09 Disposal, Recycling $0.00 $0.00

8.10 Fill, Compaction, Rough Grading $0.00 $0.00

8.11 Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional) $0.00 $0.00 8.11 4/22/2024 120.00$                              2022-109 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver and POP for $190,777.50 Reimbursement Request #1

Sub-Total $2,000.00 $2,000.00 8.11 11/29/2024 388.80$                              2023-161 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver

15% $300.00 $300.00

$4,300.00 $2,300.00 4,748.80$                           

PROJECT TITLE:

PROJECT ADDRESS:

PREPARED BY:

DATE PREPARED:

Contingency

Brownfield Plan Approved Estimated Costs

Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional)

Sanitary sewer mains

Landscaping

Marinas

Boardwalks

Park/Seating areas

Public rail lines

Vertical, Underground or Integrated Parking Structure

Storm sewers

Water mains

Curb and gutter

Category Total Total

Local and 

School

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice  Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice

 Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Local Only
Local and 

School

Local Only
Local and 

School
 Invoiced Amt Invoice #

Local Only
Local and 

School
Category Total Total

Streets, roads

Sidewalks

Category Total

Urban Storm Water Management Systems (Traditional)

Urban Storm Water Management Systems (Low Impact Design)

Publicly Owned Utilities

Total

Total

 Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice Contractor Note:

Actual Costs Incurred
Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice

Category Total Total
Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice Proof of Payment Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Local Only

Local and 

School

Local Only

Contingency

Bike paths

Bridges

Lighting

Signage

Contingency

Reimbursement Request #

Reimbursement Request #

Reimbursement Request #

Reimbursement Request #

Reimbursement Request #

Printed 5/13/2025



Category Total Total  Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Proof of PaymentLocal Only
Local and 

School

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice Reimbursement Request #

9.00 Site Preparation

9.01 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

9.02 $0.00 $0.00

9.03 $1,560,000.00 $1,560,000.00 9.03 11/27/2023 95,000.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Strip Topsoil X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.03 11/27/2023 269,500.00$                      AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Cut and Fill / Earthwork X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.03 11/27/2023 109,402.00$                      AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Backfill X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.03 11/20/2023 138,000.00$                      AIA #1 Majority Builders (H&K) Strip Topsoil X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.04 $0.00 $0.00 9.04 11/27/2023 130,000.00$                      AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Dewatering required for Watermain X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.04 11/27/2023 85,700.00$                        CO #5 Thornapple Exc Inc Dewatering for Watermain X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.05 $0.00 $0.00

9.06 $675,000.00 $675,000.00 9.06 11/27/2023 38,550.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Excavation X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.06 11/27/2023 27,000.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Excavation X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.06 11/27/2023 23,900.00$                        CO #1 Thornapple Exc Inc Excavation X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.06 11/27/2023 27,647.00$                        CO #3 Thornapple Exc Inc Excavation/Dewatering Overtime X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.06 11/27/2023 91,359.00$                        CO #5 Thornapple Exc Inc Excavation of unsuitable materials X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.06 11/27/2023 39,352.00$                        CO #7 Thornapple Exc Inc

Excavation of unsuitable materials due to 

flooding/weather
X

Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.06 12/19/2023 254,560.00$                      AIA #2, 3 Majority Builders (H&K)

Building Excavation and Digging out Truck Dock - 

excavating unstable materials (due to the high 

water table). 

X

Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.07 $0.00 $0.00 9.07 11/20/2023 178,880.00$                      AIA #1 Majority Builders (H&K)

CO #2 Import Sand - was required as a result of 

excavating unstable materials (due to the high 

water table). 

X

Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.07 12/19/2023 48,000.00$                        AIA #2 Majority Builders (H&K)

CO #1 Import Sand - was required as a result of 

excavating unstable materials (due to the high 

water table). 

X

Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.08 $0.00 $0.00

9.09 $40,000.00 $40,000.00 9.09 9/26/2023 1,315.00$                           41405 Driesenga & Assoc. Materials Testing X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.09 10/24/2023 3,641.25$                           42079 Driesenga & Assoc. Materials Testing X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.09 10/24/2023 1,376.25$                           42292 Driesenga & Assoc. Materials Testing X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.09 11/21/2023 690.00$                              42733 Driesenga & Assoc. Materials Testing X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.10 $640,000.00 $640,000.00 9.10 11/27/2023 56,575.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Final Grade X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.10 12/19/2023 64,567.50$                        AIA #2 Majority Builders (H&K) Moving excess soils X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.10 6/20/2024 26,385.00$                        AIA #6, 8 Majority Builders (H&K) CO #8, Fine grade N Ave X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.10 8/20/2024 5,000.00$                           AIA #8 Majority Builders (H&K) Respread topsoil X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.11 $0.00 $0.00 9.11 11/20/2023 536,000.00$                      AIA #1, #7 Majority Builders (H&K) Balance Site X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.11 8/21/2024 15,000.00$                        AIA #4

Rieth-Riley Construction Co., 

Inc. Fine Grading
X

Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.12 $0.00 $0.00

9.13 $0.00 $0.00

9.14 $0.00 $0.00

9.15 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 9.15 11/27/2023 33,000.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc (Nederveld) Staking
X

Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.15 8/12/2024 4,208.38$                           301 H&K Excavating Staking X Account Report

9.15 11/20/2023 12,000.00$                        AIA #1 Majority Builders (H&K) GPS and Stake X Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.16 $0.00 $0.00

9.17 $30,000.00 $30,000.00 9.17 9/19/2023 11,000.00$                        23161-0003

Majority Builders (County Line 

Nurseries) Erosion Blanket
X

Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.17 11/27/2023 17,355.00$                        AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Temp. Erosion Control X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.17 11/20/2023 8,000.00$                           AIA #1 Majority Builders (H&K) SESC Certified AIA Document, Final Receipt and Unconditional Lien Rights

9.18 $50,000.00 $50,000.00 9.18 1/25/2024 492.20$                              468062 Best Way Temp. Facility (Port-o-Let) X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.18 1/25/2023 837.85$                              225440 Best Way Temp. Facility (Port-o-Let) X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.18 4/25/2023 246.10$                              292890 Best Way Temp. Facility (Port-o-Let) X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.18 5/25/2023 654.60$                              316886 Best Way Temp. Facility (Port-o-Let) X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.18 6/25/2023 1,083.05$                           340943 Best Way Temp. Facility (Port-o-Let) X Account Report Reimbursement Request #1

9.19 $0.00 $0.00

9.20 $20,000.00 $20,000.00 9.20 3/15/2024 124,000.00$                      AAI #1

Majority Builders (Milestone 

Fence, LLC) Temp. Fence
X

Check #530610 for $111,600, Check #531452 for $12,400 Reimbursement Request #1

9.20 11/27/2023 125,000.00$                      AIA #12 Thornapple Exc Inc Temp Road X Certified AIA Document, Check #529617 for $556,075.50 Reimbursement Request #1

9.21 $0.00 $0.00

9.22 $0.00 $0.00

9.23 $150,000.00 $150,000.00 9.23 6/7/2021 1,800.00$                           7710 Envirologic Wetland Survey X Check #1257 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 9/30/2021 4,828.52$                           2159 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #108 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 10/31/2021 1,556.26$                           2222 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #110 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 11/30/2021 3,698.33$                           2239 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #112 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 12/31/2021 3,395.60$                           2283 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #112 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 1/31/2022 3,970.18$                           2343 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I and Mileage X Check #101 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 2/28/2022 2,587.32$                           2377 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #107 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 3/31/2022 4,852.90$                           2404 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #107 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 4/30/2022 3,199.10$                           2473 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I and Mileage X Check #111 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 5/31/2022 4,731.51$                           2524 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #132 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 6/30/2022 1,138.80$                           2540 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I X Check #132 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 8/31/2022 1,318.20$                           2688 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I and II X Check #120 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 9/30/2022 2,423.20$                           2705 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I and II X Check #126 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 10/31/2022 4,092.23$                           2776 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase I and Site Redesign X Check #128 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 11/30/2022 6,888.37$                           2820 AR Engineering

65% of Engineering Phase I and Site Redesign + 

100% of Survey
X

Check #176 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 1/31/2023 4,039.10$                           2959 AR Engineering 65% of Engineering Phase II and Site Redesign X Check #181 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 3/31/2023 4,345.13$                           3087 AR Engineering

65% of Engineering Phase II, Site Redesign, and 

Mileage
X

Check #189 Reimbursement Request #1

9.23 4/30/2023 665.60$                              3146 AR Engineering Engineering Phase I X Check #193 Reimbursement Request #1

Sub-Total $3,185,000.00 $3,185,000.00 9.23 4/22/2024 157,761.15$                      2022-109 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver and POP for $190,777.50 Reimbursement Request #1

Contingency 15% $477,750.00 $477,750.00 9.23 11/29/2024 154,872.10$                      2023-161 Majority Builders, Inc General Conditions and OHP X Certified AIA Document, Lien Waiver

$3,185,000.00 $3,185,000.00 2,977,440.78$                   

Category Total Total

Clearing and Grubbing

Compaction & Sub-base Preparation

Solid Waste Disposal

Staking

Temporary Construction Access and/or Roads

Temporary Facility 

Temporary Sheeting/Shoring

Temporary Site Control

Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional)

Foundation Work to address Special Soil Concerns

Geotechnical Engineering  

Temporary Traffic Control

Specific and Unique Activities

Land Balancing

Relocation of Active Utilities

Retaining Walls

Grading

Temporary Erosion Control

Proof of PaymentLocal Only
Local and 

School
Contractor Note: Invoiced Amt Invoice #

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice

Fill  

Cut & Fill Operations

Dewatering   

Dredging in Waterways

Excavation for Unstable Material 

Reimbursement Request #

Printed 5/13/2025



Category Total Total  Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Proof of PaymentLocal Only
Local and 

School

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice Reimbursement Request #

10.00 Development of Brownfield Plan and/or Work Plan

10.01 Development of Brownfield Plan $50,000.00 $50,000.00 10.01 8/29/2022 4,130.00$                           316 Linchpin Legal PLLC Legal Services for BF Plan and Agreements X Check #122 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 6/30/2021 2,430.00$                           1005 Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #1242 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 7/31/2021 450.00$                              1007 Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Paid per Invoice 1013 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 8/31/2021 1,320.00$                           1009 Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #105 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 9/30/2021 90.00$                                1013 Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #107 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 11/30/2021 1,110.00$                           1028 Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #111 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 10/30/2021 210.00$                              1024 Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #109 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 12/31/2021 1,140.00$                           1037(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Paid Per Invoice 1043(a), 1048 (a), and 1057(a) Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 1/31/2022 1,320.00$                           1043(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Paid Per Invoice 1048 (a) and 1057(a) Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 2/28/2022 1,020.00$                           1048(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Paid Per Invoice 1057(a) Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 4/1/2022 4,920.00$                           1057(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #108 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 5/1/2022 3,270.00$                           1064(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #109 Reimbursement Request #1

10.01 6/1/2022 2,520.00$                           1070(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Paid per Invocie 1073(a) Reimbursement Request #1

10.02 Development of Act 381 Work Plan $0.00 $0.00 10.01 7/1/2022 1,110.00$                           1073(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #115 Reimbursement Request #1

10.03 Work Plan and/or Brownfield Plan Implementation $0.00 $0.00 10.01 8/1/2022 1,920.00$                           1079(a) Agostinelli Advisors, LLC BF Plan Prep X Check #117 Reimbursement Request #1

Sub-Total $50,000.00 $50,000.00

$50,000.00 $50,000.00 26,960.00$                        

11.00 Quieting Title, Selling, Acquiring Property

11.01 Clearing or quieting title, selling or conveying property owned by Land Bank $500,000.00 $500,000.00 11.01 8/23/2022 55,253.70$                        2301375 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X Electronic (EFT) Payment Reimbursement Request #1

11.02 Clearing or quieting title, selling or conveying property owned by Qualified LUG $0.00 $0.00 11.01 1/12/2023 667.50$                              2320093 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X Check #180 Reimbursement Request #1

11.03 Acquisition of property by Land Bank for economic development $0.00 $0.00 11.01 2/8/2023 390.00$                              2323376 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X Check #136 Reimbursement Request #1

11.04 Acquisition of property by a QLUG for economic development $0.00 $0.00 11.01 6/7/2023 9,180.00$                           2340341 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X Fidelity National Title Company, LLC Loan Statement Reimbursement Request #1

11.01 7/18/2023 720.00$                              2346307 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X GLCM Holdings Statement / Check Reimbursement Request #1

11.01 8/10/2023 1,020.00$                           2349489 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X GLCM Holdings Statement / Check Reimbursement Request #1

Sub-Total $500,000.00 $500,000.00 11.01 3/12/2024 3,256.50$                           2381169 Warner Norcross + Judd LLP KCLBA Legal Fees for Pavilion Twp Project X GLCM Holdings Statement / Check Reimbursement Request #1

15% $0.00 $0.00

$500,000.00 $500,000.00 70,487.70$                        

12.00 Interest (3%)

12.01 Interest $1,556,145.00 $1,556,145.00

Sub-Total $1,556,145.00 $1,556,145.00

$1,556,145.00 $1,556,145.00 -$                                    

Reimbursement Request #1 2,350,921.26$                   

*Reimbursement Agreement limits reimbursement to: 11,490,250.00$                       Reimbursement Request #2 (Current): 2,008,423.90$                   

4,357,045.16$         2,300.00$           

Category Total

Category Total Total

Contingency

4,359,345.16$                   

Local and 

School
Proof of Payment

Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice  Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Local Only

Local and 

School
Proof of Payment

Invoice # Contractor Note: Local Only
Brownfield Plan 

Category
Date of Invoice  Invoiced Amt 

11,490,250.00$            Total Potential Brownfield Plan Eligible Costs $10,928,645.00

Reimbursement Request #

Reimbursement Request #

Printed 5/13/2025



Invoice # Date

Company that Performed 

the Eligible Activity Description Cost Proof of Payment Packet Page Number 

128 2/27/2024 H&K Excavating N Ave asphalt removal 3,240.00$           Lien Waiver 4

301 8/12/2024 H&K Excavating Staking 4,208.38$           Lien Waiver 6

1-23161 11/20/2023 H&K Excavating

Temporary Soil Erosion Control, Strip Top 

Soil, Site balancing, GPS and Stake site, sand 

import 604,880.00$        Lien Waiver 9

2-23161 12/19/2023 H&K Excavating

Site balancing, excavation of unstable 

materials, sand import and moving of excess 

soils 419,552.50$        Lien Waiver 13

3-23161 2/29/2024 H&K Excavating Excavation of unstable materials 188,775.00$       Lien Waiver 18

5-23161 5/20/2024 H&K Excavating Widening of E N Ave 194,500.00$       Lien Waiver 26

6-23161 6/20/2024 H&K Excavating Fine grade of E N Ave 7,500.00$           Lien Waiver 30

7-23161 7/20/2024 H&K Excavating Site balancing, dewatering 26,800.00$         Lien Waiver 34

8-23161 8/20/2024 H&K Excavating Land Balancing, Fine Grade of E N Ave 23,885.00$         Lien Waiver 38

7181289002 2/20/2024 Rieth Riley E N Avenue Widening - Paving 72,649.06$         Lien Waiver 44

7181289003 6/20/2024 Rieth Riley E N Avenue Widening - Paving 134,919.69$       Lien Waiver 45

7181289003 6/20/2024 Rieth Riley

Shoulder Gravel, Wedging/Cold Milling E N 

Ave 97,326.00$          Lien Waiver 45

7181289004 8/21/2024 Rieth Riley Fine Grade 15,000.00$         Lien Waiver 46

Subtotal 1,793,235.63$   

Multiple Multiple Majority Builders General Conditions of Above (5%) 89,661.78$         Lien Waiver 51

Multiple Multiple Majority Builders Overhead and Profit of Above (7%) 125,526.49$       Lien Waiver 51

TOTAL ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY BALANCE 2,008,423.91$   

Original Submission 2,068,623.91$    

Change after Reconciliation (60,200.00)$        

IP USA Phase II Eligible Activity Overview

lmulholland
Text Box

lmulholland
Text Box

lmulholland
Text Box
0

lmulholland
Text Box
0



Page 1 of 1

Majority

H&K Excavating

2023-161

Invoice

Number

Inv

Date Description

 Vendor

 ID

Vendor

Name Status

Acctg

Date Loc Tax

Invoice

Amount

H&K100 36H&K Excavating 02/02/24 21216 (Image) 4,226.00 Fully paid09/01/24 AP

H&K100 123H&K Excavating 02/19/24 23161 (Image) 159.90 Fully paid09/01/24 AP

H&K100 128H&K Excavating 02/27/24 23161 (Image) 3,537.05 Fully paid09/01/24 AP

H&K100 259H&K Excavating 06/28/24 23161 (Image) 14,000.00 Fully paid09/01/24 AP

H&K100 301H&K Excavating 08/12/24 23161 (Image) 11,828.38 Fully paid09/01/24 AP

H&K100 2341H&K Excavating 12/27/23 23161 (Image) 4,578.70 Fully paid12/27/23 AP

H&K100 1-23161H&K Excavating 11/20/23 23161 (Image) 809,380.00 Fully paid11/20/23 AP

H&K100 2-23161H&K Excavating 12/19/23 23161 (Image) 631,077.50 Fully paid12/19/23 AP

H&K100 2023-2340H&K Excavating 12/27/23 23161 (Image) 500.00 Fully paid09/01/24 AP

H&K100 3-23161H&K Excavating 02/20/24 23161 (Image) 291,025.00 Fully paid02/20/24 AP

H&K100 4-23161H&K Excavating 04/30/24 23161 (Image) 59,824.20 Fully paid04/30/24 AP

H&K100 5-23161H&K Excavating 05/20/24 23161 (Image) 284,200.00 Fully paid05/20/24 AP

H&K100 6-23161H&K Excavating 06/20/24 23161 (Image) 376,085.00 Fully paid06/20/24 AP

H&K100 7-23161H&K Excavating 07/22/24 23161 (Image) 132,325.00 Fully paid07/22/24 AP

H&K100 8-23161H&K Excavating 08/20/24 23161 (Image) 23,885.00 Fully paid08/20/24 AP

 2,646,631.73 

Powered By:

lmulholland
Highlight
537

lmulholland
Highlight
 3,537.05 

lmulholland
Highlight
 3,537.05 

lmulholland
Highlight
828

lmulholland
Highlight
 11,828.38 



lutzj
Rectangle

lmulholland
Rectangle



lutzj
Rectangle





lutzj
Rectangle

lutzj
Rectangle

lutzj
Rectangle

lmulholland
Text Box
“import sand” was required as a result of excavating unstable materials (due to the high water table). 









lutzj
Rectangle

lutzj
Rectangle

lutzj
Rectangle

lutzj
Rectangle

lmulholland
Text Box
“import sand” was required as a result of excavating unstable materials (due to the high water table). 

lmulholland
Text Box
Excavation was related to unstable materials (due to the high water table). 









lutzj
Rectangle

lmulholland
Text Box
Excavation was related to unstable materials (due to the high water table). 

















lutzj
Rectangle









lutzj
Rectangle









lutzj
Rectangle









lutzj
Rectangle

lutzj
Rectangle









Page 1 of 1

Majority

Rieth Riley

2023-161

Invoice

Number

Inv

Date Description

 Vendor

 ID

Vendor

Name Status

Acctg

Date Loc Tax

Invoice

Amount

RIE200 7181289001RIETH-RILEY CONSTRUCTION, 

INC.

02/13/24 23161 (Image) 1,596.50 Fully paid02/13/24 AP

RIE200 7181289002RIETH-RILEY CONSTRUCTION, 

INC.

05/20/24 23161 (Image) 72,649.06 Fully paid05/20/24 AP

RIE200 7181289003RIETH-RILEY CONSTRUCTION, 

INC.

06/20/24 23161 (Image) 232,245.69 Fully paid08/01/24 AP

RIE200 7181289004RIETH-RILEY CONSTRUCTION, 

INC.

08/21/24 23161 (Image) 485,886.00 Fully paid08/21/24 AP

RIE200 7181289005RIETH-RILEY CONSTRUCTION, 

INC.

09/02/24 23161 (Image) 3,025.00 Fully paid10/01/24 AP

 795,402.25 

Powered By:



lutzj
Rectangle



lutzj
Rectangle



lmulholland
Rectangle







lmulholland
Rectangle







DRAFT 5/9/2025  2026 Budget Proposal 
Page 1of 5

Expenses ‐ 243 accounts 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Revenues ‐ 243 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget

1   Postage 500$    100$    Previous Fund trfr  ‐$   
2   Copy Charges 500$   200$    Service Fees ‐$
3   Contractual Services 30,000$    20,000$ TIR Collection Prop. ADMIN Prop. ADMIN
4   Contractual Operations 5,000$    1,000$ 100 Island LLC ‐$ ‐$  
5   Site Study 17,000$    17,000$ 232 LLC 1,000$ 500$  
6   Contractual Other (legal) 15,000$    12,000$ 381/383 Pitcher 5,000$ 1,500$                  
7   Communication Expense 1,000$    1,000$ 9008 Portage Rd 1,000$ 500$  
8   Internal Communication ‐$   3,000$ Blackbird 1,000$ 500$  
9   Travel 3,000$    1,000$ 555 Eliza Street 5,000$ 10,000$                

10   Marketing program 1,000$    1,500$ General Mills 30,000$   12,000$                
11   Employee Training 4,000$    1,500$ Graphic Packaging 30,000$   23,000$                
12   Miscellaneous 1,000$    1,000$ Holiday Lanes (Delta Conf. Ctr) 5,000$   3,000$                  
13   Indirect Costs 16,000$    16,000$ IPUSA 25,000$   15,000$                
14   Office Supply  1,000$    1,000$ Kalamazoo West 1,000$ 500$  
15   Salary Director (RG) 2,000$    2,000$ KALSEE 1,000$ 1,500$                  
16   Salaries Other (MW) 80,000$    78,200$ Kartar #6 ‐$ ‐$  
17   Fringe Benefits 43,000$    38,500$ Metal Mechanics 5,000$ 500$  
18   Salaries Other (RC) 5,000$    5,000$ Midlink 60,000$   37,000$                
19 Parchment Mill/City BRA ‐$    ‐$   
20 Scannell/FedEx 25,000$   30,000$                
21 Stadium Park Way 10,000$   7,000$                  
22 Schupan  20,000$   500$  
23 Vicksburg Mill ‐$ ‐$  
24 Pavilion Investors, LLC ‐$ ‐$  
25 Subtotal Admin 225,000$ 143,000$             

26 Total 225,000$    200,000$                    225,000$   143,000$                
27
28 Midlink Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Midlink Revenues 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
29   Local TIR Payments 500,000.00$                  358,000.00$              Local TIR 560,000$   395,000$                
30   School TIR Payments 500,000.00$                  460,001.00$              School TIR 500,000$   ‐$  
31 Administrative 60,000.00$                    37,000.00$               
32 Total 1,060,000$                    855,001$                    Total 1,060,000$ 395,000$                
33
34 9008 Portage Rd Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget 9008 Portage Rd. Revenues 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
35 Local TIR Payments 5,000$     Local TIR 10,000$ 1,000$
36 School TIR Payments 5,000$    200$    School TIR 1,500$ 1,000$
37 Transfer into LBRF 500$  
38 Administrative 1,000$    1,800$
39 Total 11,500$    2,000$ Total 11,500$ 2,000$
40
41 General Mills Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget General Mills Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
42 Local TIR Payments to dev. 100,000$   75,500$  Local TIR 130,000$   105,000$                
43 School TIR Payments ‐$   250,000$    School TIR ‐$ 250,000$                
44 Administrative 30,000$    29,500$
45 Total 130,000$   355,000$                    Total 130,000$   355,000$                
46

47 Graphic Packaging Expense 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Graphic Packaging Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
48 Local TIR Payments to dev. 300,000$   ‐$    Local TIR 330,000$   ‐$
49 School TIR Payments 200,000$   ‐$   State TIR 200,000$   ‐$
50 Administrative 30,000$    ‐$  
51 Total 530,000$   ‐$   Total 530,000$   ‐$
52
53 555 E. Eliza Street Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget 555 E. Eliza Street Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
54 Local TIR Payments 100,000$   Local TIR 105,000$   400$  
55 School TIR Payments 70,000$    100$   School TIR 70,000$ 300$  
56 Administrative 5,000$    600$  
57 Total 175,000$   700$   Total 175,000$   700$  
58
59 232 LLC Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget 232 LLC Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
60 TIR Payments 10,000$    2,000$ Local TIR 11,000$ 3,000$
61 Administrative 1,000$    1,000$
62 Total 11,000$    3,000$ Total 11,000$ 3,000$
63
64 Blackbird Billiards Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Blackbird Billiards Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
65 TIR Payments 100$   550$   Local TIR 1,100$ 500$  
66 School TIR Payments 900$   50$ School TIR 900$ 500$  
67 Administrative 1,000$    400$  
68 Total 2,000$    1,000$ Total 2,000$ 1,000$
69
70 Kalamazoo West Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Kalamazoo West Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
71 Local TIR Payments 7,000$    4,000$ Local TIR 8,000$ 5,000$
72 Administrative 1,000$    1,000$
73 Total 8,000$    5,000$ Total 8,000$ 5,000$
74
75 Metal Mechanics Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Metal Mechanics Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
76 Local TIR Payments 7,000$    4,000$ Local TIR 8,000$ 5,000$
77 Administrative 1,000$    1,000$
78 Total 8,000$    5,000$ Total 8,000$ 5,000$

Expenditures Revenues

Item 7 d 



DRAFT 5/9/2025  2026 Budget Proposal  Page 2of 5

79
80 Stadium Park Way Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Stadium Park Way Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
81 Local TIR Payments 50,000$    48,000$ Local TIR 60,000$ 55,000$  
82 School TIR Payments 70,000$    66,500$ School TIR 70,000$ 76,000$  
83 Administrative 10,000$    7,000$
84 Total 130,000$   121,500$                    Total 130,000$   131,000$                
85
86 381/383 S. Pitcher Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget 381/383 S. Pitcher Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
87 Local TIR Payments to Dev. 12,000$    15,500$ Local TIR 17,000$ 17,000$  
88 School TIR Payments 12,000$    10,500$ School TIR 12,000$ 12,000$  
89 Administrative 5,000$    1,500$
90 Total 29,000$    27,500$ Total 29,000$ 29,000$                   
91
92 Delta Marriott Holiday Lanes Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Delta Marriott/Holiday Lanes Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
93 Local TIR Payments 50,000$    20,200$ Local TIR 55,000$ 22,000$  
94 Administrative 5,000$    1,800$
95 Total 55,000$    22,000$ Total 55,000$ 22,000$                   
96
97 Vicksburg Mill Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Vicksburg Mill Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
98 Local TIR Payments ‐$   20,000$ Local TIR ‐$ ‐$
99 Administrative

100 Total ‐$   20,000$ Total ‐$ ‐$
101
102 Scannell/FedEx Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Scannell/FedEx Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
103 Local TIR Payments to Dev. 327,000$   ‐$   Local TIR 352,000$   ‐$
104 Administrative 25,000$    ‐$   ‐$
105 Total 352,000$   ‐$   Total 352,000$   ‐$
106

107 100 Island Ave Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget 100 Island Ave Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
108 Administrative 0 ‐$   Local TIR ‐$ ‐$  
109 School TIR ‐$ ‐$  
110 Total ‐$   ‐$   Total ‐$ ‐$  
111
112 Packment Mill/ City BRA Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Parchment Mill/ City BRA 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
113 Administrative ‐$   ‐$   Local TIR ‐$ ‐$  

114 Total ‐$   ‐$    Total ‐$    ‐$   

115 IPUSA Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget IPUSA Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
116 Local TIR Payments 475,000$   48,000$ Local TIR 500,000$   55,000$  
117 School TIR Payments 500,000$   66,500$ School TIR 500,000$   76,000$  
118 Administrative 25,000$    7,000$
119 Total 1,000,000$                    121,500$                    Total 1,000,000$ 131,000$                
120
121 KALSEE Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget KALSEE Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
122 Local TIR Payments 24,000$    ‐$   Local TIR 25,000$ ‐$
123 School TIR Payments 25,000$    ‐$   School TIR 25,000$ ‐$
124 Administrative 1,000$    ‐$  
125 Total 50,000$    ‐$   Total 50,000$ ‐$
126
127 Schupan Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget Schupan Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
128 Local TIR Payments 40,000$    ‐$   Local TIR 60,000$ ‐$
129 School TIR Payments 70,000$    ‐$   School TIR 70,000$ ‐$
130 Administrative 20,000$    ‐$  
131 Total 130,000$   ‐$   Total 130,000$   ‐$
132
133 EGLE Loan Expenditures 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget EGLE Loan Revenue 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
134 Contractual 96,200.00$                    Fed Grant Rev 99,500.00$
135 Travel 2,000.00$  
136 Salaries 600.00$   
137 Fringe 200.00$   
138 Supplies 500.00$   
139 Total 99,500.00$                    Total 99,500.00$  
140
141 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
142 GRAND TOTAL ‐ 243 Expenses $4,006,000.00 $1,417,701 GRAND TOTAL ‐ 243 Revenues 4,006,000$ 1,091,700$             
143
144
145
146
147 LBRF Account Expenses 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget LBRF Account Revenues 2026 Proposed 2025 Budget
148 Carry forward for future use 150,000$   150,000$   Project Revenues 200,000.00$  
149 Contractual Other 50,000$    25,000$
150 Total 200,000$   175,000$                    Total 200,000.00$   230,000.00$           

LBRF ‐ Fund 643 Expenses LBRF ‐ Fund 643 Revenues



KCBRA Fund 243 General Fund 2025 Expense Detail

1 Postage              Contractual ‐ Other Salaries
2   Jan‐March 154.86$          Varnum Invoice (Pavilion Inv. LLC) 2,212.50$ Salary R Q1 55.22$           
3 April‐June Varnum Invoice (Pavilion Inv. LLC) 2,550.00$ Salary M Q1 17,728.72$   
4 July‐Sept. Fringe Q1 7,113.58$     
5 Oct.‐Dec. Salary R Q2
6 Total 154.86$          Salary M Q2
7 Fringe Q2
8 Printing   Total 4,762.50$ Salary Q3 R
9 Jan‐March ‐$                 Salary Q3 M

10 April‐June Communication ‐ Internal Fringe Q3
11 July‐Sept. Network Jan.‐March 91.75$ Salary Q4 R
12 Oct.‐Dec. Network April‐June Salary Q4 M
13 Total ‐$                 Network July‐Sept. Fringe Q4
14 Network Oct.‐Dec. Total 24,897.52$   
15 Office Supplies Total 91.75$
16
17 Total ‐$                 Communication 
18
19 Contractual Total ‐$
20 Fishbeck 2/14/25 1,802.50$      
21 Fishbeck 3/3/25 63.75$            Travel
22 Fishbeck 3/3/25 5,232.75$       BRA Staff EGLE Workshop 4/16/25 67.20$
23 BRA Staff MEDA Emerging Leaders 5/8/25 73.50$
24 Total 140.70$  
25 Total 7,099.00$      
26 Marketing
27 Contractual Op. Bluetree Webdesign  80.00$  
28 Fishbeck 2/14/25 220.22$         
29 Fishbeck 3/3/25 78.33$            Total 80.00$  
30
31 Total 298.55$          Employee Training
32 EGLE Workshop 4/16/25 30.00$   *corrected from $35

Site Study MEDA Emerging Leaders 5/8/25 80.00$
34Fishbeck 2/14/25 (KVHH) 285.25$          Total 110.00$
35 Fishbeck 3/3/25 (KVHH) 2,323.25$      
36 Fishbeck 5/14/25 (KVHH) 391.50$          Miscellaneous
37 Total 3,000.00$      
38 Total ‐$
39
40 Indirect Cost alloc.
41
42 Total ‐$
43
44 Interest Expense
45

Total ‐$
47
48 Total Expenses 40,634.88$          
49
50
51 KCBRA Admin Account Balance $698,646.26

Estimated KCBRA Fund amounts with Encumbrances & TIR Held for Reimbursements

Fund 243 General Fund $5,800,765.12

Fund 242 LBRF  $4,787,072.63

Item 8 a



1
2 MUNIS Actual MUNIS Actual
3 2024 MUNIS BRA TOTAL YEAR END 4,455,282.02
4 ESTIMATED TOTAL FUND BALANCE AS OF 12/13/24 $5,800,765.12
5 2024 BRA Carry Forward Administrative Fund Balance $685,550.70
6 Administrative Fund Balance as of 5/15/25 $698,646.26

7 BRA Fund 243 for 2025 (Formerly Fund 247) Revenues Expenses

Estimated 

Pending reimb. REV‐EXP
8 County BRA (acct 24370300‐)  40,634.88 ‐40,634.88 MUNIS Actual, Admin Expense (D6)
9 Dividends 48,730.44 48,730.44

10 Service Fees (application fee payments) 5,000.00
11 3rd Party Reimbursements 9008 Portage R
12 Midlink local TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.00) 219,127.29 219,127.29
13 Midlink school TIR tax (acct 24370301‐420.01) 293,470.81 293,471
14 Midlink Admin chg
15 General Mills local TIR (acct 24370304‐420.00) 54,891.84 54,892
16 General Mills school TIR (acct 24370304‐420.01) 0
17 General Mills Admin chg
18 9008 Portage Road local TIR (acct 24370303‐420.00) 763.33 4,246.08 ‐3,483
19 9008 Portage Road school TIR (acct 24370303‐420.01) 0
20 9008 Portage Road Admin Chg
21 555 E. Eliza St. Local TIR (24370306‐420.00) 15,879.30 15,879
22 555 E. Eliza St. School TIR (24370306‐420.01) 20,154.34 20,154
23 555 E. Eliza St. Admin Chg
24 232 LLC Local TIR (24370307‐420.00)   7,251.54 6,891.21 360
25 232 LLC Admin. Chg
26 Blackbird Billiards local TIR (24370308‐420.00) 695.39 695
27 Blackbird Billiards School TIR (24370308‐420.01) 329.15 329.15
28 Blackbird Billiards Admin Chg
29 Kalamazoo West Prof Ctr Local TIR (24370310‐010)  5,200.30 5,200.30
30 Kalamazoo West Admin. Chg
31 Metal Mechanics Local TIR (24370311‐420.00) 2,333.31 2,333
32 Metal Mechanics School TIR (24370311‐420.01) 0
33 Metal Mechanics Admin. Chg.
34 Scanell/Project Spartan Local TIR (24370318‐420.00) 112,391.78 112,392
35 Scanell/Project Spartan School TIR (24370318‐420.01) 0
36 Scanell/Project Spartan Admin. Chg.
37 Schupan Local (24370326‐420.00) 23,789.30
38 Schupan State (24370326‐420.01)
39 Schupan Admin. Chg
40 Stadium Park Way Local (24370314‐420.00) 64,408.80 64,409
41 Stadium Park Way School (24370314‐420.01) 0
42 Stadium Park Way Admin Chg
43 383 S. Pitcher St Local TIR (24370315‐420.00) 15,797.76 8,940.90 6,857
44 383 S. Pitcher School TIR (24370315‐420.01) 10,238.20 14,525.38 ‐4,287
45 383 S. Pitcher Admin Chg
46 Vickburg Mill (24370316)
47 Vicksburg Mill Admin. Chg
48 Delta Marriott (24370317) Local TIR 61,110.24
49 Delta Marriott School TIR 
50 Delta Marriott Admin. Chg
51 2 and 10 Mills St. (Environmental Work)
52 Graphic Packaging Local TIR (24370319‐420.00) 293,470.81 293,471
53 Graphic Packaging School TIR (24370319‐420.01) 181,749.22 181,749
54 Graphic Packaging Admin Chg
55 IPUSA Local TIR (24370320‐420.00)
56 IPUSA State TIR (24370320‐420.01)
57 IPUSA Admin. Charge
58 KALSEE Credit Union Local TIR (24370321‐420.00) 6,633.52 11,906.53
59 KALSEE Credit Union State TIR (24370321‐420.01) 10,788.59
60 KALSEE Credit Union Admin. Charge
61 Landscape Forms, Inc.
62 615 W. Kalamazoo Ave. (Environmental work)
63 619 Porter St. (Environmental work)
64
65 BRA ACTUAL TOTAL IN 2025 AS OF 5/15/25 1,443,416.67 97,933.57 ‐  1,345,483 1,345,483 5,800,765
66
67
68 2020‐24 Pending remaining of approved Work Orders & Other Expenses
69 General Fund

70 WO#17 ‐ Gen Env. Consulting, Ammend. #1 85 unused in 2017
71 WO#2018‐1 ‐ General Env. Consulting 20 unused in 2018
72 WO#19 ‐ Checker Motors MDEQ SSA grant application $1179 + $58 application
73
74 WO# 2018‐2  ET Annual Report Assisstance 25 unused in 2018
75 WO# 2018‐3 Website Assisstance ‐Envirologic 42.5 unused in 2018
76 Web Hosting (annual expense) 0 Remaining amount in W.O.
77 WO# 2019‐1 General Environmental Consulting 1,516.25 unused in 2019
78 WO# 2019‐3 General Env. Review 2018 Annual report 447.50 unused in 2019
79 WO# 2020‐1 General Environmental Review ET 7,273.75 unused in 2020
80 WO#2021‐1 General Env. + Admin. Envirologic 16,393.75 unused in 2021
81 WO#2022‐1 General Environmental + admin 11,722.50 unused in 2022
82 WO#2023‐1 General Environmental + Admin 6,780.44 unused in 2023
83 WO #2024‐1 General Environmental + Admin 2,354.96 unused in 2024
84 WO# 2025‐1 General Environmental + Admin 13,524.12 amount remaining in w.o.
85 WO# 2025‐2 Habitat for Humanity  0.00 amount remaining in w.o.
86 Fund 243 (247) Work Order TOTAL 13,524.12 5,800,765 Est. Fund 243 w

88 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 242 Revenues Expenses
89 Dividends  243,081 Michigan CLASS $4.6M
90 440 LLC ‐ Funding Request 0.00 Remaining amount in W.O.
91 WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Rd General Env. 6,832.02 Remaining amount in W.O. 4,787,073 Fund 242 w/ Enc.
92 WO#2023‐2 YWCA VMI system (GRA) 15,093.78 Remaining amount in W.O.
93 WO#2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street (LRA) 0.00 Remaining amount in W.O. LRA still pending
94 555 Eliza Street/ Lee Street Expansion (LRA) 394,500.00 LRA still pending
95 Emerging Developer Fund Work Orders & Other Expenses 500,000.00 Estimated Amt. Allocated
96 WO# 2025‐2 Habitat for Humanity  14.00 Remaining amount in W.O.
97 WO# 2025‐3 Rooney's Soul Food Wagon 20,366.84 Remaining amount in W.O.

The B on Burdick LBRF Loan 1.5% 66,600.00 Remaining in Loan Amt. 
Estimated allocation remaining as of 5/22/25 413,019.16 Remaining in 2025 Allocation

100 Fund 242 (643) Work Order Total  503,406.64
102 516,930.76

Estimated totals for Projects w/ Pending Invoice Packets not yet submitted for Eligible Expenses to Developers (with required documentation):
100 Island Ave., LLC
Graphic Packaging 
IPUSA (invoice packet #3)
Landscape Forms Inc. 

ESTIMATED Total Remaining including TIR (w/remaining encumbrances TBD) 5,800,765.12

total work orders & other expenses from both accounts



KCBRA Fund 242 Local Brownfield Revolving Fund 
5/16/25

Local Brownfield Revolving Fund ‐ Fund 242
 (Previously Fund 643) Revenues Expenditures REV‐EXP

LBRF From 2014 7,416.84 7,416.84
Transferred from Brown 7/6/2015 5,659.48 5,659.48

Transferred from Brown 12/31/2015 5,299.28 5,299.28
Transferred from Brown 8/2/2016 6,479.70 6,479.70

 Transfer from Brown 12/15/16 6,314.00 6,314.00
Transfer from Brown 7/27/17 6,984.90 6,984.90
Transfer from Brown 1/18/18 6,478.34 6,478.34

Transfer from Brown approved 5/24/18 ‐ actual 8/16/18 8,607.43 8,607.43
Transfer from Corner @ Drake Actual 8/16/18 29,537.26 29,537.26

Transfer Corner @ Drake remaining 2018 8/2/19 32,737.66 32,737.66
Transfer Corner @ Drake (‐ reimb MTT Costco) 8/2/19 158,072.02 158,072.02

Transfer from Brown 8/2/19 11,262.63 11,262.63
Transfer from Metal Mechanics 10/14/19 2,309.82 2,309.82

Transfer from Metal Mechanics School 4/16/20 677.85 677.85
Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/15/20 211,427.30 211,427.30

 Envirologic WO#31 E. Frank and N. Pitcher St 11/23/20 2,966.13 ‐2,966.13
Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/1/20 4,516.58 ‐4,516.58

Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 12/31/20  7,901.92 ‐7,901.92
Envirologic WO#2020‐3 315 Frank St. Phase IIESA 1/28/21  235.00 ‐235.00

Transfer from Corner @ Drake 7/22/21 243,109.06 243,109.06
Transfer from 2747 S. 11th Street ‐ Delta Marriott 9/27/21 2,100.00 2,100.00

Transfer from Metal Mechanics 9/27/21 632.18 632.18
Transfer from RAI Jets 10/28/21 11,148.99 11,148.99

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 11,504.87 ‐11,504.87
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 308.51 ‐308.51
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 1,102.50 ‐1,102.50
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 897.00 ‐897.00
Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn  Road Phase II ESA 130.00 ‐130.00

Transfer from Midlink 2/24/22 394,228.36 394,228.36
Tansfer from General  Mills 2/24/22 310,467.33 310,467.33

Transfer from RAI Jets 4/29/22 13,871.91 13,871.91
Transfer from Corner @ Drake 4/29/22 217,535.53 217,535.53
Transfer from Metal Mechanics 6/23/22 2,332.92 2,332.92

Envirologic WO#2021‐2 3800 Wynn Road BEA Due Care 225.00 ‐225.00
Transfer from Scannell 9/22/22 9,245.50 9,245.50

Transfer from General Mills 11/17/22 48,943.82 48,943.82
440 NC, LLC invoice packet  5/25/23 15,000.00 ‐15,000.00

Transfer from 9008 Portage Road 8/24/23 458.41 458.41
Transfer from RAI Jets pending 8/24/23 9,033.35 9,033.35
Trasfer from Stadium Park Way  8/24/23 57,124.21 57,124.21

Transfer from Stryker (2 payments) 10/26/23 2,254,385.84 2,254,385.84
Transfer from Midlink Business Park 10/26/23 776,830.38 776,830.38

Fishbeck WO#2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street 2/22/24 13,707.93 ‐13,707.93
Fishbeck WO#2023‐2 YWCA 3/13/24 87,897.02 ‐87,897.02
Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 4/10/24 1,384.65 ‐1,384.65

Fishbeck WO# 2023‐3 436 W. Willard Street 4/10/24 10,292.01 ‐10,292.01
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 4/30/24 10,865.65 10,865.65
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 5/31/24 21,086.11 21,086.11
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 6/30/24 20,503.72 20,503.72

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 7/9/24 537.50 ‐537.50
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 7/31/24 21,345.92 21,345.92

Transfer from KALSEE Credit Union 8/22/24 2,036.46 2,036.46
Transfer from Stryker 8/22/24 245,614.16 245,614.16

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 8/31/24 21,303.34 21,303.34
Transfer from 9008 Portage Road 9/26/23 2,834.64 2,834.64

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 9/30/24 20,186.23 20,186.23
Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 10/10/24 437.55 ‐437.55

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 10/31/24 19,822.86 19,822.86
Transfer from Scannell 11/21/24 119,331.26 119,331.26

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 11/30/24 18,767.70 18,767.70
Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 12/2/24 115.00 ‐115.00

Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 12/31/24 18,908.38 18,908.38
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 1/31/25 18,315.73 18,315.73

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 2/10/25 4,534.50 ‐4,534.50
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 2/28/25 16,452.37 16,452.37

Fishbeck WO #2023‐2 YWCA 3/3/24 10,144.55 ‐10,144.55
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 3/31/25 18,058.69 18,058.69
Dividends from Michigan CLASS investment $4.6 M 4/30/25 17,464.59 17,464.59
Fishbeck WO #2025‐3 Rooney's Sould Food Wagon 5/14/25  4,633.16 ‐4,633.16

Fishbeck #WO 2025‐2 KV Habitat for Humanity 5/14/25 2,086.00 ‐2,086.00
Transfer from KALSEE Credit Union 5/22/25 7,426.54 7,426.54

Subtotals 5,471,036.65 180,557.38 5,290,479.27
5,290,479.27$   

Estimated amount less encumbrances 4,787,072.63  See Expense Detail 2025 for outstanding workorders 

Dividends 2025 Year to Date 70,291.38
Total Dividend Deposits to Date 243,081.29

Fund 242 TOTAL to date

Item 8 b


	07 c 1 IPUSA Invoice Packet #2.pdf
	IPUSA Phase II Invoice Packet(39113222.4).pdf
	ZNP2592.tmp
	IPUSA Phase II Invoice Packet(39113222.3).pdf
	IPUSA Phase II Invoice Packet(39113222.2).pdf
	HK Excavating 2023-161 Invoices Highlighted(39113222.1).pdf
	VendNo HK100 InvNo 8-23161 (002).pdf

	Majority Builders - PayApp 13.pdf

	Rieth Riley 2023-161.pdf
	VendNo RIE200 InvNo 7181289005.pdf

	IPUSA Phase II Brownfield.pdf





